

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Advances in Mathematics

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/aim

Spectral theory for bounded banded matrices with positive bidiagonal factorization and mixed multiple orthogonal polynomials



1

MATHEMATICS

Amílcar Branquinho^a, Ana Foulquié-Moreno^b, Manuel Mañas^{c,d,*}

^a CMUC, Departamento de Matemática, Universidade de Coimbra, 3001-454 Coimbra, Portugal

^b CIDMA, Departamento de Matemática, Universidade de Aveiro, 3810-193 Aveiro, Portugal

^c Departamento de Física Teórica, Universidad Complutense de Madrid, Plaza Ciencias 1, 28040-Madrid, Spain

^d Instituto de Ciencias Matematicas (ICMAT), Campus de Cantoblanco UAM, 28049-Madrid, Spain

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 2 January 2023 Received in revised form 3 September 2023 Accepted 16 September 2023 Available online xxxx Communicated by C. Fefferman

MSC:

42C05 33C45 33C47 47B39 47B36

Keywords: Bounded banded matrices Oscillatory matrices Totally nonnegative matrices

ABSTRACT

Spectral and factorization properties of oscillatory matrices lead to a spectral Favard theorem for bounded banded matrices, that admit a positive bidiagonal factorization, in terms of sequences of mixed multiple orthogonal polynomials with respect to a set positive Lebesgue–Stieltjes measures. A mixed multiple Gauss quadrature formula with corresponding degrees of precision is given.

© 2023 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

 $\ast\,$ Corresponding author.

E-mail addresses: ajplb@mat.uc.pt (A. Branquinho), foulquie@ua.pt (A. Foulquié-Moreno), manuel.manas@ucm.es (M. Mañas).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aim.2023.109313

^{0001-8708/} 2023 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Mixed multiple orthogonal polynomials Favard spectral representation Mixed multiple Gaussian quadrature

Contents

1.	Introduction	2
	1.1. Totally nonnegative and oscillatory matrices	4
	1.2. Jacobi matrices	6
	1.3. Mixed multiple orthogonal polynomials on the step-line	7
2.	Recursion polynomials and the characteristic polynomial	15
3.	Right and left eigenvectors	21
4.	Christoffel–Darboux formula	22
5.	Biorthogonality and Christoffel numbers	23
6.	Mixed multiple discrete orthogonality	26
7.	Positive bidiagonal factorization and Christoffel numbers positivity	28
8.	Resolvent, second kind polynomials and Weyl functions	35
9.	Spectral Favard theorem	39
10.	Mixed multiple Gaussian quadrature and degrees of precision	42
11.	Conclusions and outlook	45
Ackno	owledgments	46
Refer	ences	47

1. Introduction

This work is devoted to spectral theorems beyond self-adjoint or normal operators. We give conditions, the existence of a positive bidiagonal factorization, to be explained later, such we can state a spectral Favard theorem for bounded banded semi-infinite matrices. The study of symmetric tridiagonal operators acting in the Hilbert space ℓ^2 can under an appropriate chosen basis be reduced to an infinite Jacobi matrix enabling a deeper understanding of this spectral theory. Here is where the theory of general orthogonal polynomials comes into place to derive the spectral and the resolvent set for selfadjoint operators (cf. [44]).

Multiple orthogonal polynomials are traditionally linked with the theory of Hermite– Padé and its applications to the constructive function theory. For good introductions to multiple orthogonal polynomials see the book by Nikishin and Sorokin [44] and the chapter by Van Assche in [37, Ch. 23] and for a inspiring basic introduction see [42]. Multiple orthogonal polynomials are a very active research area: for asymptotic of zeros see [7], for a Gauss–Borel perspective see [2], for Christoffel perturbations see [19], for applications to random matrix theory see [16]. Mixed multiple orthogonal polynomials, and the corresponding Riemann–Hilbert problem, have found applications in Brownian bridges, or non-intersecting Brownian motions, that leave from p points and arrive to q points [26], and in the discussion of multicomponent Toda, cf. [1,2]. Mixed multiple orthogonal polynomials also appear in applications to number theory. Apéry, cf. [3], proved in 1979 that $\zeta(3)$ is irrational. The proof is based on an mixed Hermite–Padé approximation to three functions. Also mixed multiple orthogonal polynomials and corresponding mixed Hermite–Padé approximations have been used to show that infinitely many values of the ζ function at odd integers are irrational, cf. [11], and that at least one of the numbers $\zeta(5), \zeta(7), \zeta(9), \zeta(11)$ is irrational, cf. [52].

Another field of application of multiple orthogonal polynomials is the spectral analysis of high order difference operators. Spectral theorems hold beyond self-adjointness for normal operators (the operator commutes with its adjoint). In the case of banded Hessenberg operators, the self-adjointness or normality no more takes place.

A first attempt to tackle these problems has been made by Kalyagin in [38–40,8]. There the author defines a class of operators related with the Hermite-Padé approximants and connects their spectral analysis with the convergence problem for simultaneous Hermite-Padé rational approximants of a system of resolvent functions of the operator (that coincides with the notion of multiple orthogonality). See also [15]. The group comprising Aptekarev, Denisov, and Yattselev has also made significant contributions. Noteworthy among their works are those focused on self-adjoint Jacobi matrices on trees and multiple orthogonal polynomials [4], the asymptotics of coefficients and the essential spectrum of Jacobi matrices on trees generated by Angelescu systems [5], and lastly, their research on the spectral theory of Jacobi matrices on trees whose coefficients are generated by multiple orthogonality [6]. At the same time this connection leads to a new solution of the direct and inverse spectral problems for the operators based on the Jacobi–Perron algorithm and vector continued fractions (cf. [9,49,50]). This approach serves as a base of a new method of the investigation on nonlinear discrete dynamical systems. As an example, global solutions of a hierarchy of discrete KdV equations are obtained (cf. [9,51,12-14]).

Recently, in a series of works (cf. [18,20,23]) we have analyzed the applications of type I and II multiple orthogonal polynomials to certain Markov chains also called non simple random walks (i.e., beyond birth and death). At the end we got a spectral Favard theorem with an application to Markov chains described in terms of a bounded banded (p + 2)-diagonal (with one superdiagonal and p subdiagonals) oscillatory Hessenberg operators that admit positive bidiagonal factorizations.

The main result we achieved in [20] is that bounded banded Hessenberg matrices that admit a positive bidiagonal factorization have a set of positive Lebesgue–Stieltjes measures, and can be spectrally described by multiple orthogonal polynomials. This extends to the non-normal scenario the spectral Favard theorem for Jacobi matrices (cf. [37]). An important feature of the method applied in [20] to describe the spectrality of a banded Hessenberg operator, is the multiple Gauss quadrature formula that we get with the exact degrees of precision.

In this paper we consider a bounded banded operator T whose semi-infinite matrix is a banded matrix with q superdiagonals and p subdiagonals and such that the leading principal submatrices are given by

 $T^{[N]} =$



where it is assumed that the entries in the extreme diagonals do not vanish

$$T_{n+p,n} \neq 0, \qquad T_{n,n+q} \neq 0, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$

In what follows we will show that when this matrix, after a shift, admits a positive bidiagonal factorization and, consequently, is oscillatory, we can find a spectral Favard theorem. Now, we have mixed multiple orthogonal polynomials with respect to a matrix of positive Lebesgue–Stieltjes measures. As an application we derive the corresponding Gauss quadrature formula for this matrix of measures and determine their degrees of precision.

While the extension given in this paper of the spectral Favard theorem of [20] for banded Hessenberg matrices to arbitrary banded matrices is natural, there were several key issues to resolve before achieving this large extension. The first one was to understand the role of the characteristic polynomial that is no longer an orthogonal polynomial, the second was to find the relationship of the determinants of the two families of mixed multiple orthogonal polynomials to the characteristic polynomial and its zeros, and finally the extension of the positive bidiagonal factorization to this general situation and the application of the oscillation properties of eigenvectors.

Within this introduction we discuss, in the first place, some preliminary material on totally nonnegative matrices, stating (without proof) the results needed later on. Then, we show how the well known bounded tridiagonal Jacobi matrix for which we have the spectral Favard theorem happens to be oscillatory after an adequate shift and have a positive bidiagonal factorization. Finally, we use the Gauss–Borel factorization of a moment matrix to construct mixed multiple orthogonality on the step-line.

1.1. Totally nonnegative and oscillatory matrices

Totally nonnegative (TN) matrices are those with all their minors nonnegative, cf. [30,35], and the set of nonsingular TN matrices is denoted by InTN. Oscillatory matrices, cf. [35], are totally nonnegative, irreducible [36] and nonsingular. Notice that the set of

oscillatory matrices is denoted by IITN (irreducible invertible totally nonnegative) in [30]. An oscillatory matrix T is equivalently defined as a totally nonnegative matrix A such that for some n we have that A^n is totally positive (all minors are positive). From Cauchy–Binet Theorem one can deduce the invariance of these sets of matrices under the usual matrix product. Thus, following [30, Theorem 1.1.2] the product of matrices in InTN is again InTN (a similar statement hold for TN or oscillatory matrices).

We have the important result:

Theorem 1.1 (Gantmacher–Krein Criterion). [35, Chapter 2, Theorem 10]. A totally non negative matrix is oscillatory if and only if it is nonsingular and the elements at the first subdiagonal and first superdiagonal are positive.

Regarding tridiagonal matrices we have the following classical result:

Theorem 1.2. [34, Chapter XIII, §9] and [35, Chapter 2, Theorem 11]. A tridiagonal matrix is oscillatory if and only if,

- i) The matrix entries of the first subdiagonal and first superdiagonal are positive.
- ii) All leading principal minors are positive.

Gauss–Borel factorizations are intimately related with these concepts:

Theorem 1.3. [30, Theorem 2.4.1] $T \in \text{InTN}$ if and only if it admits a Gauss-Borel factorization $T = L^{-1}U^{-1}$ with $L, U \in \text{InTN}$, lower and upper triangular matrices, respectively.

The following spectral theorems are extracted from [30], see also [35].

Theorem 1.4 (Eigenvalue). [30, Theorem 5.2.1] Given an oscillatory matrix $T \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times N}$ the eigenvalues of T are N distinct positive numbers.

Theorem 1.5 (Interlacing of eigenvalues). [30, Theorem 5.5.2] Given an oscillatory matrix $T \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times N}$ the eigenvalues of T strictly interlace the eigenvalues of the two principal submatrices of order (N-1), T(1) or T(N), obtained from T by deleting the first row and column or the last row and column.

We need to introduce the following notation. We define the total sign variation of a totally nonzero vector (no entry of the vector u is zero) as $v(u) = \operatorname{cardinal}\{i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\} : u_i u_{i+1} < 0\}$. For a general vector $u \in \mathbb{R}^n$ we define $v_m(u)$ ($v_M(u)$) as the minimum (maximum) value v(y) among all totally nonzero vectors y that coincide with u in its nonzero entries. For $v_m(u) = v_M(u)$ we write $v(u) := v_m(u) = v_M(u)$.

Theorem 1.6 (Eigenvectors). Let $T \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times N}$ be an oscillatory matrix, and $u^{(k)}$ ($w^{(k)}$) the right (left) eigenvector corresponding to λ_k , the k-th largest eigenvalue of A. Then

- i) [30, Theorem 5.3.3] We have $v_m(u^{(k)}) = v_M(u^{(k)}) = v(u^{(k)}) = k 1$ ($v_m(w^{(k)}) = v_M(w^{(k)}) = v(w^{(k)}) = k 1$). Moreover, the first and last entry of $u^{(k)}$ ($w^{(k)}$) are nonzero, and $u^{(1)}$ and $u^{(N)}$ ($w^{(1)}$ and $w^{(N)}$) are totally nonzero; the other vectors may have a zero entry.
- ii) From Perron–Frobenius theorem we know that $u^{(1)}$ $(w^{(1)})$ can be chosen to be entrywise positive, and that the other eigenvectors $u^{(k)}$ $(w^{(k)})$, k = 2, ..., n have at least one entry sign change. In fact, $u^{(N)}$ $(w^{(N)})$ strictly alternates the sign of its entries.

1.2. Jacobi matrices

Let us consider the tridiagonal semi-infinite real matrix



and assume that $\ell_k > 0, k \in \mathbb{N}$. This matrix is symmetrizable, as the positive diagonal matrix $H = \text{diag}(H_0, H_1, \dots), H_0 = 1, H_n := \ell_1 \cdots \ell_n$, is such that $H^{-\frac{1}{2}}JH^{\frac{1}{2}}$ is symmetric.

If the matrix J is bounded, all the possible eigenvalues of the submatrices $J^{[N]}$ belong to the disk D(0, ||J||). As all the eigenvalues are real, let us consider those that are negative, and let b be the supreme of the absolute values of all negative eigenvalues. Notice that $b \leq ||J||$.

Theorem 1.7. For $s \ge b$, the matrix $J_s = J + sI$ is oscillatory and admits a positive bidiagonal factorization in the form



with $\alpha_n > 0$.

Proof. Take $s \ge b$, then J_s has the eigenvalues of its leading principal submatrices $J_s^{[N]} = J^{[N]} + sI_{N+1}$ all positive. The corresponding characteristic polynomials are $P_{N+1}(x-s) = \det(xI_{N+1}-J_s^{[N]})$, so that $\det J_s^{[N]} = (-1)^{N+1}P_{N+1}(-s)$ and, as -s is a lower bound for any possible zero of this monic polynomial, we find that $(-1)^{N+1}P_{N+1}(-s) > 0$. Hence, the leading principal minors of J_s are all positive and the entries on the subdiagonal a superdiagonal are positive. Thus, we conclude, attending to Theorem 1.2, that J_s is an oscillatory matrix.

The positive bidiagonal factorization is a consequence of Theorem 1.3 applied to J_s for $s \ge b$. \Box

The Favard spectral theorem, see [46], ensures for a Jacobi matrix J the existence of a unique probability measure $d\psi$ such that $\int P_n(x)x^m d\psi(x) = 0$, for $m \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$, that is the characteristic polynomials are orthogonal polynomials, and moreover $\int x^n d\psi(x) = (J^n)_{0,0}$. Thus, we see that the tridiagonal matrices to which the classical spectral Favard theorem applies are equivalently described as bounded tridiagonal matrices that after a convenient translation admit a positive bidiagonal factorization.

1.3. Mixed multiple orthogonal polynomials on the step-line

Mixed multiple orthogonal polynomials were first introduced in 1994 by Sorokin [48], and further extended in 1997 by him and van Iseghem in [49] when studying matrix orthogonality of vector polynomials. Ten years later, in 2004, it was rediscovered by Daems and Kuijlaars [26] in the context of multiple non-intersecting Brownian motions, where the name mixed multiple orthogonal was coined. It has been discussed also in [1,2,32,33]. Some of the forementioned papers deal $q \times p$ rectangular matrix of weights of rank 1 at each point of the support. However, the most fitted version for the discussion in this paper is the ones in [49] and [33] in where a $q \times p$ rectangular matrix of functionals or measures, respectively, are considered.

Let us present the mixed multiple orthogonal polynomials, on the step line, as they appear from the LU factorizations of a matrix of moments, following the ideas presented in [2].

Definition 1.8 (Matrix of measures). Let us consider a matrix of functions, which are right continuous and of bounded variation in a closed interval Δ , $\Psi = \begin{bmatrix} \psi_{1,1} \cdots \psi_{1,p} \\ \vdots \\ \psi_{q,1} \cdots \psi_{q,p} \end{bmatrix}$ and the associated matrix of Lebesgue–Stieltjes measures $d\Psi = \begin{bmatrix} d\psi_{1,1} \cdots d\psi_{1,p} \\ \vdots \\ d\psi_{q,1} \cdots d\psi_{1,p} \\ \vdots \\ d\psi_{q,1} \cdots d\psi_{q,p} \end{bmatrix}$.

Definition 1.9 (Monomial matrices). Given $r \in \mathbb{N}$, we consider the semi-infinite matrices of monomials

$$X_{[r]} := \begin{bmatrix} I_r \\ xI_r \\ x^2I_r \\ \vdots \end{bmatrix}$$

that, denoting its columns by $X_{[r]}^{(j)}$, we can write $X_{[r]} = [X_{[r]}^{(1)} \cdots X_{[r]}^{(r)}]$.

Definition 1.10 (Shift matrices). The shift matrix is given by $\ell_{[r]} := \begin{bmatrix} 0_r & I_r & 0_r & \cdots & \cdots \\ 0_r & 0_r & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots \end{bmatrix}$.

Lemma 1.11. Shift matrices act by left multiplication on monomial matrices according to

$$\ell_{[r]}X_{[r]} = xX_{[r]}(x), \qquad \ell_{[r]}X_{[r]}^{(j)} = xX_{[r]}^{(j)}(x), \qquad j \in \{1, \dots, r\}.$$

Lemma 1.12. If we denote by $\ell := \ell_{[1]} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & \cdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots \end{bmatrix}$ we have $\ell_{[r]} = \ell^r$.

Definition 1.13 (Moment matrix). The matrix of moments is given by

Lemma 1.14. The moment matrices are a structured matrix built up with $q \times p$ blocks $\mathcal{M}_{n,m} := \int_{\Delta} x^{n+m} d\Psi(x) \in \mathbb{R}^{q \times p}$. In fact, is Hankel by blocks, i.e. $\mathcal{M}_{n+1,m} = \mathcal{M}_{n,m+1}$.

This fact can be reformulated as follows:

Proposition 1.15. The moment matrix satisfies

$$\ell_{[q]}\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}(\ell_{[p]})^{\top}.$$
(3)

Proof. It follows from

$$\ell_{[q]}\mathcal{M} = \int_{\Delta} \ell_{[q]} X_{[q]}(x) \,\mathrm{d}\,\Psi(x) (X_{[p]}(x))^{\top} = \int_{\Delta} x X_{[q]}(x) \,\mathrm{d}\,\Psi(x) (X_{[p]}(x))^{\top}$$
$$= \int_{\Delta} X_{[q]}(x) \,\mathrm{d}\,\Psi(x) (X_{[p]}(x))^{\top} (\ell_{[p]})^{\top}. \quad \Box$$

Now, let us assume that the moment matrix \mathcal{M} has a Gauss–Borel factorization, i.e. $\mathcal{M} = L^{-1}U^{-1}$, where L is lower triangular and U upper triangular, such that none of the diagonal entries in both triangular matrices are zero, and the respective inverse matrices make sense. It is well known that such LU factorizations do exist whenever the leading principal submatrices are nonsingular.

Definition 1.16 (Matrix polynomials). Let us consider the matrices

$$B := LX_{[q]} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathscr{B}_0 \\ \mathscr{B}_1 \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \end{bmatrix}, \qquad A := (X_{[p]})^\top U = \begin{bmatrix} \mathscr{A}_0 & \mathscr{A}_1 \cdots \end{bmatrix},$$

where $\mathscr{B}_n(x)$ is a $q \times q$ matrix polynomial and $\mathscr{A}_n(x)$ is a $p \times p$ matrix polynomial. Observe that

$$B = \begin{bmatrix} B^{(1)} \cdots B^{(q)} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad B^{(b)} = LX^{(b)}_{[q]}, \qquad b \in \{1, \dots, q\},$$
$$A = \begin{bmatrix} A^{(1)}_{\vdots} \\ \vdots \\ A^{(p)} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad A^{(a)} = (X^{(a)}_{[p]})^{\top}U, \qquad a \in \{1, \dots, p\}.$$

Lemma 1.17. The semi-infinite vectors

$$B^{(b)} = \begin{bmatrix} B_0^{(b)} \\ B_1^{(b)} \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \end{bmatrix}, \qquad A^{(a)} = \begin{bmatrix} A_0^{(a)} & A_1^{(a)} \cdots \end{bmatrix},$$

have as entries polynomials with degrees

$$\deg B_n^{(b)} = \left\lceil \frac{n+2-b}{q} \right\rceil - 1, \qquad \deg A_n^{(a)} = \left\lceil \frac{n+2-a}{p} \right\rceil - 1. \tag{4}$$

For the block polynomials we have

$$\mathscr{B}_{n} = \begin{bmatrix} B_{nq}^{(1)} \cdots B_{nq}^{(q)} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ B_{nq+q-1}^{(1)} \cdots B_{nq+q-1}^{(q)} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \mathscr{A}_{n} = \begin{bmatrix} A_{np}^{(1)} \cdots A_{np+p-1}^{(1)} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ B_{np}^{(1)} \cdots B_{nq+q-1}^{(q)} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Lemma 1.18.

i) For $r, n \in \mathbb{N}$, $n \ge r$, we have

$$\sum_{a=1}^{r} \left\lceil \frac{n+1-a}{r} \right\rceil = n.$$
(5)

- ii) For the degrees we find $\sum_{b=1}^{q} (\deg B_n^{(b)} + 1) = \sum_{a=1}^{p} (\deg A_n^{(a)} + 1) = n + 1.$
- **Proof.** i) Let us consider n = kr + j, where $j = 0, \ldots r 1$. For $a = 1, \ldots, j$, we have that

$$\left\lceil \frac{n+1-a}{r} \right\rceil = \left\lceil \frac{kr+j+1-a}{r} \right\rceil = k + \left\lceil \frac{j+1-a}{r} \right\rceil = k+1.$$

For $a = j + 1, \ldots, r$, we find

$$\left\lceil \frac{n+1-a}{r} \right\rceil = \left\lceil \frac{kr+j+1-a}{r} \right\rceil = \left\lceil \frac{(k-1)r+r-a+j+1}{r} \right\rceil$$
$$= (k-1) + \left\lceil \frac{r-a+j+1}{r} \right\rceil = k.$$

Therefore, Equation (5) follows.

ii) It follows from the previous result and (4). \Box

Proposition 1.19 (Biorthogonality). The following biorthogonality holds

$$\int_{\Delta} B(x) \,\mathrm{d}\, \Psi(x) A(x) = I,$$

that entrywise can be written

$$\sum_{b=1}^{q} \sum_{a=1}^{p} \int_{\Delta} B_{n}^{(b)}(x) \,\mathrm{d}\,\psi_{b,a}(x) A_{m}^{(a)}(x) = \delta_{n,m}, \qquad n, m \in \mathbb{N}_{0}.$$
(6)

Proof. From the definition of the moment matrix \mathcal{M} and the Gauss-Borel factorization $\mathcal{M} = L^{-1}U^{-1}$ we get

$$\int_{\Delta} X_{[q]}(x) \,\mathrm{d}\, \Psi(x) \big(X_{[p]}(x) \big)^{\top} = L^{-1} U^{-1}.$$

By left and right multiplication by the triangular factors L and U, respectively, we get

$$\int_{\Delta} LX_{[q]}(x) \,\mathrm{d}\,\Psi(x) \left(X_{[p]}(x)\right)^{\top} U = I$$

and recalling the definition of B and A we deduce that $\int_{\Delta} B(x) d\Psi(x)A(x) = I$, and the result follows immediately. \Box

Remark 1.20 (Matrix biorthogonality).

i) If p = q, we recover the well-known matrix biorthogonality, see [27,47,28] for matrix orthogonality,

$$\int_{\Delta} \mathscr{B}_n(x) \,\mathrm{d}\, \Psi(x) \mathscr{A}_m(x) = \delta_{n,m} I_p, \qquad n, m \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$

ii) For $p \neq q$, this matrix orthogonality is lost. However, if we denote for $r \in \mathbb{N}$ by $\mathscr{B}_n^{[r]}$ the $r \times q$ matrix of polynomials obtained from the $\infty \times q$ matrix B by taking consecutive submatrices of size $r \times q$, and similarly for $\mathscr{A}_n^{[r]}$, i.e., obtained from the $p \times \infty$ matrix A consecutive submatrices of size $p \times r$, we get the following generalized matrix biorthogonality

$$\int_{\Delta} \mathscr{B}_n^{[r]} \,\mathrm{d}\, \Psi(x) \mathscr{A}_m^{[r]}(x) = \delta_{n,m} I_r, \qquad n, m \in \mathbb{N}_0.$$

From biorthogonality (6) we get mixed multiple orthogonal relations as follows:

Corollary 1.21 (Mixed multiple orthogonality). The following orthogonality relations

$$\sum_{a=1}^{p} \int_{\Delta} A_{n}^{(a)}(x) \,\mathrm{d}\,\psi_{b,a}(x)x^{m} = 0, \qquad m \in \left\{0, \dots, \deg B_{n-1}^{(b)}\right\}, \qquad b \in \{1, \dots, q\},$$
$$\sum_{b=1}^{q} \int_{\Delta} B_{n}^{(b)}(x) \,\mathrm{d}\,\psi_{b,a}(x)x^{m} = 0, \qquad m \in \left\{0, \dots, \deg A_{n-1}^{(a)}\right\}, \qquad a \in \{1, \dots, p\},$$

are satisfied.

Remark 1.22. For q = 1 the mixed multiple orthogonality is the well known multiple orthogonality, or *p*-orthogonality, with $A_n^{(a)}$ the type I multiple orthogonal polynomials and the B_n the type II multiple orthogonal polynomials, see [44,37].

We now discuss the connection of the Gauss–Borel factorization of the moment matrix and the Cauchy transforms.

Definition 1.23. Let us consider the formal semi-infinite matrices

$$C(z) := z^{-1} (X_{[q]}(z^{-1}))^{\top} L^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathscr{C}_0 \ \mathscr{C}_1 \cdots \end{bmatrix}, \qquad D(z) := z^{-1} U^{-1} X_{[p]}(z^{-1}) = \begin{bmatrix} \mathscr{D}_0 \\ \mathscr{D}_1 \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \end{bmatrix}.$$
(7)

With $\mathscr{C}_n, \mathscr{D}_n$ being $q \times p$ rectangular blocks.

Remark 1.24. The previous definition is formal, as the product of matrices involves series instead of sums, hence to have a meaning we must ensure the convergence of these series.

Remark 1.25. We have that

$$C = \begin{bmatrix} C^{(1)} \\ \vdots \\ C^{(q)} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad D = \begin{bmatrix} D^{(1)} \cdots D^{(p)} \end{bmatrix},$$

where $C^{(b)} = \begin{bmatrix} C_0^{(b)} & C_1^{(b)} & \cdots \end{bmatrix}$ are semi-infinite row vectors and $D^{(b)} = \begin{bmatrix} D_0^{(b)} \\ D_1^{(b)} \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \end{bmatrix}$ semi-infinite column vectors. The block matrices are

$$\mathscr{C}_n = \begin{bmatrix} C_{np}^{(1)} \cdots C_{np+p-1}^{(1)} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ C_{np}^{(q)} \cdots C_{np+p-1}^{(q)} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \mathscr{D}_n = \begin{bmatrix} D_{nq}^{(1)} \cdots D_{nq}^{(p)} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ D_{nq+q-1}^{(1)} \cdots D_{nq+q-1}^{(p)} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Proposition 1.26 (Cauchy transforms). Let us assume that z belongs to the exterior of a disk centered at the origin that includes all the supports supp $d\psi_{b,a}$, for $b \in \{1, \ldots, q\}$ and $a \in \{1, \ldots, p\}$. Then, the matrices in (7) are the following Cauchy transforms

$$C(z) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}\Psi(x)}{z-x} A(x), \qquad D(z) = \int B(x) \frac{\mathrm{d}\Psi(x)}{z-x}.$$

Proof. We have

$$C(z) = z^{-1} \left(X_{[q]}(z^{-1}) \right)^{\top} \mathcal{M}U = z^{-1} X_{[q]}^{\top}(z^{-1}) \int X_{[q]}(x) \,\mathrm{d}\, \Psi(x) (X_{[p]}(x))^{\top} U.$$

Now, notice that for |x| < |z| it holds that

$$z^{-1}(X_{[r]}(z^{-1}))^{\top}X_{[r]}(x) = \frac{1}{z}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\frac{x^n}{z^n}I_r = \frac{I_r}{z-x},$$

so that, recalling that $(X_{[p]}(x))^{\top}U = A(x)$, we get $C(z) = \int \frac{d\Psi(x)}{z-x}A(x)$. Analogously,

$$D(z) = L\mathcal{M}X_{[p]}(z^{-1})z^{-1} = \int LX_{[q]}(x) \,\mathrm{d}\,\Psi(x)(X_{[p]}(x))^{\top}X_{[p]}(z^{-1})z^{-1}$$
$$= \int B(x)\frac{\mathrm{d}\,\Psi(x)}{z-x}. \quad \Box$$

Remark 1.27. Entrywise, we find

$$C_n^{(b)}(z) = \sum_{a=1}^p \int \frac{\mathrm{d}\,\psi_{b,a}(x)}{z-x} A_n^{(a)}(x), \qquad D_n^{(a)}(z) = \sum_{b=1}^q \int B_n^{(b)}(x) \frac{\mathrm{d}\,\psi_{b,a}(x)}{z-x},$$

and block entrywise

$$\mathscr{C}_n(z) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}\Psi(x)}{z-x} \mathscr{A}_n(x), \qquad \mathscr{D}_n(z) = \int \mathscr{B}_n(x) \frac{\mathrm{d}\Psi(x)}{z-x}.$$

Now, let us discuss how these polynomials connect with the matrix Hermite–Padé problem as considered in [51]. For that aim, we first introduce:

Definition 1.28 (Stieltjes–Markov functions). Let us consider the Stieltjes–Markov functions given by

$$\hat{\psi}_{b,a}(z) := \int\limits_{\Delta} \frac{\mathrm{d}\,\psi_{b,a}(x)}{z-x},$$

i.e., the Cauchy transforms of the measures. We also introduce two families of polynomials of the second kind linked to the orthogonal polynomials:

$$R_n^{(a)}(z) := \sum_{b=1}^q \int_{\Delta} \frac{B_n^{(b)}(z) - B_n^{(b)}(x)}{z - x} \,\mathrm{d}\,\psi_{b,a}(x),$$
$$Q_n^{(b)}(z) := \sum_{a=1}^p \int_{\Delta} \frac{A_n^{(a)}(z) - A_n^{(a)}(x)}{z - x} \,\mathrm{d}\,\psi_{b,a}(x).$$

Proposition 1.29 (Matrix Hermite-Padé).

i) The following simultaneous approximation holds

$$\sum_{b=1}^{q} B_n^{(b)}(z)\hat{\psi}_{b,a}(z) = R_n^{(a)}(z) + O\left(\frac{1}{z^{n_a+1}}\right), \qquad z \to \infty,$$

with

$$n_a := \deg A_{n-1}^{(a)} + 1 = \left\lceil \frac{n+1-a}{p} \right\rceil$$

We have $\sum_{a=1}^{p} n_a = n$ and $\sum_{b=1}^{q} (\deg B_n^{(b)} + 1) = n + 1$. ii) Analogously, the simultaneous approximation

$$\sum_{a=1}^{p} \hat{\psi}_{b,a}(z) A_n^{(a)}(z) = Q_n^{(b)}(z) + O\left(\frac{1}{z^{m_b+1}}\right), \qquad z \to \infty,$$

with

$$m_b := \deg B_{n-1}^{(b)} + 1 = \left\lceil \frac{n+1-b}{q} \right\rceil,$$

is satisfied. We have $\sum_{b=1}^{q} m_b = n$ and $\sum_{a=1}^{p} (\deg A_n^{(a)} + 1) = n + 1.$

Proof. Let us check only the first case. The other follows by similar arguments. Observe that

$$\sum_{b=1}^{q} B_{n}^{(b)}(z)\hat{\psi}_{b,a}(z) = \sum_{b=1}^{q} B_{n}^{(b)}(z) \int_{\Delta} \frac{\mathrm{d}\,\psi_{b,a}(x)}{z-x}$$
$$= \sum_{b=1}^{q} \int_{\Delta} \frac{B_{n}^{(b)}(z) - B_{n}^{(b)}(x)}{z-x} \,\mathrm{d}\,\psi_{b,a}(x) + \sum_{b=1}^{q} \int_{\Delta} \frac{B_{n}^{(b)}(x)}{z-x} \,\mathrm{d}\,\psi_{b,a}(x)$$
$$= R_{n}^{(a)}(x) + \sum_{k=0}^{+\infty} \frac{1}{z^{k+1}} \sum_{b=1}^{q} \int_{\Delta} B_{n}^{(b)}(x) x^{k} \,\mathrm{d}\,\psi_{b,a}(x).$$

Using now the mixed multiple orthogonality conditions, see Corollary 1.21, we get the result. The degrees follow from Lemma 1.18. This is exactly the matrix Hermite–Padé problem that appears in [51]. \Box

Finally, we discuss the recursion relations

Proposition 1.30 (Banded recursion matrix).

i) The following relation is fulfilled

$$L\ell_{[q]}L^{-1} = U^{-1}(\ell_{[p]})^{\top}U.$$

- ii) The semi-infinite matrix $T := L\ell_{[q]}L^{-1} = U^{-1}(\ell_{[p]})^{\top}U$ is a banded matrix with p subdiagonals, q superdiagonals, where the p-th and q-th sub and superdiagonal entries are nonzero.
- iii) The following recursion relations hold

$$TB = xB, \qquad AT = xA.$$

Proof. i) From the Gauss–Borel factorization and (3) we get

$$\ell_{[q]}L^{-1}U^{-1} = L^{-1}U^{-1}(\ell_{[p]})^{\top},$$

so that

$$L\ell_{[q]}L^{-1} = U^{-1}(\ell_{[p]})^{\top}U$$

- ii) The matrix $L\ell_{[q]}L^{-1}$ has all its superdiagonals above the first q-th superdiagonal with zero entries, while $U^{-1}(\ell_{[p]})^{\top}U$ has all its subdiagonals below the first p-th subdiagonal with zero entries. Hence, T is a general banded matrix with p + q + 1diagonals possibly with nonzero entries. The p-th and q-th sub and superdiagonal entries are nonzero, taking into account that L is lower triangular and U an upper triangular such that none of the diagonal entries in both triangular matrices are zero.
- iii) By definition $B = LX_{[q]}$ so that $TB = L\ell_{[q]}L^{-1}LX_{[q]} = L\ell_{[q]}X_{[q]} = xB$. Similarly, also by definition, we have $A = (X_{[p]})^{\top}U$ so that $AT = (X_{[p]})^{\top}UU^{-1}(\ell_{[p]})^{\top}U = (X_{[p]})^{\top}(\ell_{[p]})^{\top}U = xA$. \Box

This banded recursion matrix is the object of study of this paper. It will be the departure point in the next sections. We have considered a matrix of measures and the associated matrix of moments and derived the mixed multiple orthogonality as well as the banded recursion matrix. The aim in this paper is to get conditions on the banded matrix so that we can go back this way, to retrieve the matrix of positive measures and the mixed multiple orthogonal polynomials from the recursion matrix; i.e., to get a spectral Favard theorem.

2. Recursion polynomials and the characteristic polynomial

We begin by introducing the recursion polynomials associated to the banded matrix T, with truncations given in (1), as the entries of semi-infinite left and right eigenvectors:

Definition 2.1 (Left and right recursion polynomials). Associated with the semi-infinite banded matrix T we consider the semi-infinite vectors

$$A^{(a)} = \begin{bmatrix} A_0^{(a)} & A_1^{(a)} \cdots \end{bmatrix}, \qquad a \in \{1, \dots, p\}, \qquad B^{(b)} = \begin{bmatrix} B_0^{(b)} \\ B_1^{(b)} \\ \vdots \end{bmatrix}, \qquad b \in \{1, \dots, q\},$$

that are left and right eigenvectors with eigenvalue x of T, i.e.

$$A^{(a)}T = xA^{(a)}, \qquad a \in \{1, \dots, p\}, \qquad TB^{(b)} = xB^{(b)}, \qquad b \in \{1, \dots, q\}.$$

The entries of these left and right eigenvectors are polynomials in the eigenvalue x, known as left and right recursion polynomials, respectively, determined by the initial conditions

with $\nu_j^{(i)}$ being arbitrary constants, and

with $\xi_j^{(i)}$ also being arbitrary, respectively. We also define the initial condition matrices



Once the initial conditions are fixed, the remaining polynomials are found by:

Proposition 2.2 (General recursion relations). The recursion polynomials are uniquely determined by the initial conditions (8) and (9) and the recursion relations

$$A_{n-q}^{(a)}T_{n-q,n} + \dots + A_{n+p}^{(a)}T_{n+p,n} = xA_n^{(a)}, \qquad n \in \{0, 1, \dots\}, \qquad a \in \{1, \dots, p\},$$

$$A_{-q}^{(a)} = \dots = A_{-1}^{(a)} = 0, \qquad (10)$$

$$T_{n,n-p}B_{n-p}^{(b)} + \dots + T_{n,n+q}B_{n+q}^{(b)} = xB_n^{(b)}, \qquad n \in \{0, 1, \dots\}, \qquad b \in \{1, \dots, q\},$$

$$B_{-p}^{(b)} = \dots = B_{-1}^{(b)} = 0.$$

We use the ceiling function $\lceil x \rceil$ that maps x to the least integer greater than or equal to x.

Proposition 2.3. For the degrees of the left and right recursion polynomials we find

$$\deg A_n^{(a)} = \left\lceil \frac{n+2-a}{p} \right\rceil - 1, \qquad \deg B_n^{(b)} = \left\lceil \frac{n+2-b}{q} \right\rceil - 1.$$

Proof. By inspection we can check that, for $j \in \{1, ..., p\}$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$, it holds that $\deg A_{kp+j}^{(a)} = k$, for $a \in \{1, ..., j+1\}$ and $\deg A_{kp+j}^{(a)} = k-1$ for $a \in \{j+2, ..., p\}$ and that, for $j \in \{1, ..., q\}$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$, $\deg B_{kq+j}^{(b)} = k$, for $b \in \{1, ..., j+1\}$ and $\deg B_{kp+j}^{(b)} = k-1$ for $b = \{j+2, ..., q\}$.

However, we notice that

$$\left\lceil \frac{n+2-a}{p} \right\rceil - 1 = \left\lceil \frac{kp+j+2-a}{p} \right\rceil - 1 = k-1 + \left\lceil \frac{j+2-a}{p} \right\rceil$$

but

$$\left\lceil \frac{j+2-a}{p} \right\rceil = \begin{cases} 1, & a \in \{1, \dots, j+1\}, \\ 0, & a \in \{j+2, \dots, p\}, \end{cases}$$

and the stated result follows. For the recursion polynomials $B_n^{(b)}$ we proceed analogously. \Box

Definition 2.4 (*Characteristic polynomials*). For the semi-infinite matrix T we consider the polynomials $P_N(x)$ as the characteristic polynomials of the truncated matrices $T^{[N-1]}$, i.e.,

$$P_N(x) := \begin{cases} 1, & N = 0, \\ \det (xI_N - T^{[N-1]}), & N \in \mathbb{N}. \end{cases}$$

Obviously, deg $P_N = N$. For Hessenberg matrices [20] it happens that the characteristic polynomials up to a factor coincide with the right recursion polynomials. However, for the banded situation this does not hold in general. Nevertheless, there is a relation between determinants of the recursion polynomials, right or left, with the characteristic polynomials of the banded matrix T. Let us see this.

Definition 2.5. Let us introduce the following matrices of left and right recursion polynomials

$$A_{N} := \begin{bmatrix} A_{N}^{(1)} \cdots A_{N+p-1}^{(1)} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ A_{N}^{(p)} \cdots A_{N+p-1}^{(p)} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad B_{N} := \begin{bmatrix} B_{N}^{(1)} \cdots B_{N}^{(q)} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ B_{N+q-1}^{(1)} \cdots B_{N+q-1}^{(q)} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad N \in \mathbb{N}_{0},$$

and the following products

$$\alpha_N := (-1)^{(p-1)N} T_{p,0} \cdots T_{N+p-1,N-1},$$

$$\beta_N := (-1)^{(q-1)N} T_{0,q} \cdots T_{N-1,N+q-1}, \qquad N \in \mathbb{N},$$

and $\alpha_0 = \beta_0 = 1$.

Remark 2.6. These are inspired by the matrix polynomials blocks given in the Gauss– Borel construction of mixed multiple orthogonality, see Lemma 1.17. In fact, for $M \in \mathbb{N}_0$, $A_{Mp} = \mathscr{A}_M$ and $B_{Mq} = \mathscr{B}_M$.

Recall that as the entries in the extreme diagonals do not vanish (2) we have that $\alpha_N, \beta_N \neq 0$. In terms of these objects we found the following important result:

Theorem 2.7. For $N \in \mathbb{N}_0$, the characteristic polynomials and determinants of left and right recursion polynomial blocks satisfy

$$P_N(x) = \alpha_N \det A_N(x) = \beta_N \det B_N(x).$$

Proof. For N = 0 we have that det $A_0 = \det \nu = 1$. For N = 1 we get

$$T_{p,0} \det A_1 = \begin{vmatrix} A_1^{(1)} \cdots A_{p-1}^{(1)} & T_{p,0} A_p^{(1)} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ A_1^{(p)} \cdots A_{p-1}^{(p)} & T_{p,0} A_p^{(p)} \end{vmatrix} = \begin{vmatrix} A_1^{(1)} \cdots A_{p-1}^{(1)} & (x - T_{0,0}) A_0^{(1)} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ A_1^{(p)} \cdots A_{p-1}^{(p)} & (x - T_{0,0}) A_0^{(p)} \end{vmatrix}$$

where we have used the recursion (10) in the last column of this determinant. Now we express this last determinant as the following product of determinants

$$\begin{vmatrix} A_1^{(1)} \cdots A_{p-1}^{(1)} & (x - T_{0,0}) A_0^{(1)} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ A_1^{(p)} \cdots A_{p-1}^{(p)} & (x - T_{0,0}) A_0^{(p)} \end{vmatrix} = \begin{vmatrix} A_0^{(1)} \cdots A_{p-1}^{(1)} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ A_0^{(p)} \cdots A_{p-1}^{(p)} \end{vmatrix} \begin{vmatrix} 0 \cdots \cdots 0 & x - T_{0,0} \\ 0 & \vdots \\ A_0^{(p)} \cdots A_{p-1}^{(p)} \end{vmatrix} \begin{vmatrix} 0 \cdots \cdots 0 & x - T_{0,0} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ A_0^{(p)} \cdots A_{p-1}^{(p)} \end{vmatrix} = \begin{vmatrix} A_0^{(1)} \cdots A_{p-1}^{(1)} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ A_0^{(p)} \cdots A_{p-1}^{(p)} \end{vmatrix} \begin{vmatrix} 0 \cdots \cdots 0 & x - T_{0,0} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 &$$

We proceed similarly up to N = p - 1, so for $N \in \{2, ..., p - 1\}$, we get that

$$T_{p,0}T_{p+1,1}\dots T_{N+p-1,N-1} \det A_N := \begin{vmatrix} A_N^{(1)} \dots A_{p-1}^{(1)} T_{p,0}A_p^{(1)} \dots T_{N+p-1,N-1}A_{N+p-1}^{(1)} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ A_N^{(p)} \dots A_{p-1}^{(p)} T_{p,0}A_p^{(p)} \dots T_{N+p-1,N-1}A_{N+p-1}^{(p)} \end{vmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{vmatrix} A_N^{(1)} \dots A_{p-1}^{(1)} & (x - \tau_{0,0})A_0^{(1)} - \tau_{1,0}A_1^{(1)} - \dots - \tau_{N-1,0}A_{N-1}^{(1)} \dots - \tau_{0,N-1}A_0^{(1)} - \tau_{1,N-1}A_1^{(1)} - \dots + (x - \tau_{N-1,N-1})A_{N-1}^{(1)} \end{vmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{vmatrix} A_N^{(1)} \dots A_{p-1}^{(p)} & \vdots & \vdots \\ A_N^{(p)} \dots A_{p-1}^{(p)} & (x - \tau_{0,0})A_0^{(p)} - \tau_{1,0}A_1^{(p)} - \dots - \tau_{N-1,0}A_{N-1}^{(p)} \dots - \tau_{0,N-1}A_0^{(p)} - \tau_{1,N-1}A_1^{(p)} - \dots + (x - \tau_{N-1,N-1})A_{N-1}^{(p)} \end{vmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{vmatrix} A_0^{(1)} \dots A_{p-1}^{(1)} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ A_0^{(p)} \dots A_{p-1}^{(p)} \end{vmatrix} \begin{vmatrix} 0_{N \times (p-N)} & xI_N - T^{[N-1]} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ A_0^{(p-N) \times N} \end{vmatrix}$$

$$= (-1)^{N(p-N)} P_N(x)$$

where, in the second equality, we have used the recursion relation (10) in the last N columns and cancel the contributions already present in the previous columns.

For $N \ge p$, using the recursion relation similarly as above we get

$$T_{N,N-p} \cdots T_{N+p-1,N-1} \det A_N = \det M,$$

$$M := \begin{bmatrix} A_0^{(1)} \cdots A_{N-1}^{(1)} \\ \vdots \\ A_0^{(p)} \cdots A_{N-1}^{(p)} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} -T_{0,N-p} \cdots -T_{0,N-1} \\ \vdots \\ -T_{N-p-1,N-p} \cdots -T_{N-p-1,N-1} \\ x - T_{N-p,N-p} \cdots -T_{N-p,N-1} \\ \vdots \\ T_{N-1,N-p} \cdots x - T_{N-1,N-1} \end{bmatrix}$$

In order to compute this determinant we notice that



where C is an $(N-p) \times p$ submatrix of $xI_N - T^{[N-1]}$ that is not relevant for the reasoning. Observe that



where the initial conditions of recursion polynomials have been used, and we get

$$(-1)^{p(N-p)}P_N(x) = (-T_{p,0})(-T_{p+1,1})\cdots(-T_{N-1,N-p-1})\det M$$

so that

$$P_N(x) = (-1)^{(p+1)(N-p)} T_{p,0} T_{p+1,1} \cdots T_{N-1,N-p-1} T_{N,N-p} \cdots T_{N+p-1,N-1} \det A_N(x)$$

and observing that $(-1)^{(p+1)(N-p)} = (-1)^{(p-1)N}$ we obtain the stated result. Finally, the second result is proven analogously. \Box

3. Right and left eigenvectors

We now consider determinantal polynomials constructed in terms of determinants of left and right recursion polynomials that happen to give left and right eigenvectors of $T^{[N]}$.

Definition 3.1. Let us introduce the determinantal polynomials

$$Q_{n,N} := \begin{vmatrix} A_n^{(1)} \cdots A_n^{(p)} \\ A_{N+1}^{(1)} \cdots A_{N+1}^{(p)} \\ \vdots \\ A_{N+p-1}^{(1)} \cdots A_{N+p-1}^{(p)} \end{vmatrix}, \qquad R_{n,N} := \begin{vmatrix} B_n^{(1)} \cdots B_n^{(q)} \\ B_{N+1}^{(1)} \cdots B_{N+1}^{(q)} \\ \vdots \\ B_{N+q-1}^{(1)} \cdots B_{N+q-1}^{(q)} \end{vmatrix}, \qquad (11)$$

the semi-infinite row and column vectors

$$Q_N := \begin{bmatrix} Q_{0,N} & Q_{1,N} \cdots \end{bmatrix}, \qquad R_N := \begin{bmatrix} R_{0,N} \\ R_{1,N} \\ \vdots \end{bmatrix},$$

and corresponding truncations

$$Q^{\langle N \rangle} := \begin{bmatrix} Q_{0,N} & Q_{1,N} \cdots Q_{N,N} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad R^{\langle N \rangle} := \begin{bmatrix} R_{0,N} \\ R_{1,N} \\ \vdots \\ R_{N,N} \end{bmatrix}.$$

Proposition 3.2. The following properties for polynomials $Q_{n,N}, R_{n,N}$ are satisfied

- i) $Q_{N+1,N} = \dots = Q_{N+p-1,N} = R_{N+1,N} = \dots = R_{N+q-1,N} = 0.$
- ii) $\alpha_N Q_{N,N} = \beta_N R_{N,N} = P_N$ and $(-1)^{p-1} \alpha_{N+1} Q_{N+p,N} = (-1)^{q-1} \beta_{N+1} R_{N+q,N} = P_{N+1}$.
- iii) $Q_N T = x Q_N$ and $T R_N = x R_N$.

iv)

$$Q^{\langle N \rangle}T^{[N]} + \left[0 \cdots 0 \ T_{N+p,N}Q_{N+p,N}\right] = xQ^{\langle N \rangle},$$

$$T^{[N]}R^{\langle N \rangle} + \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ \vdots\\ \vdots\\ 0\\ T_{N,N+q}R_{N+q,N} \end{bmatrix} = xR^{\langle N \rangle}.$$
 (12)

- **Proof.** i) As $Q_{n,N}$ and $R_{n,N}$ are the determinants in (11) we see that they vanish whenever two rows are equal, which happens precisely in the indicated cases.
- ii) It follows from Theorem 2.7.
- iii) It is a direct consequence of the fact that all appropriate rows/columns in the determinants in (11) satisfy corresponding recurrences.
- iv) It follows from the previous points i) and iii). \Box

Now, we are ready to give a set of left and right eigenvectors of the banded finite matrix $T^{[N]}$. Let us assume that its eigenvalues $\lambda_k^{[N]}$, $k \in \{1, \ldots, N+1\}$ are simple (which happens for example for oscillatory matrices). These eigenvalues are the zeros of the characteristic polynomials $P_{N+1}(x)$. We also assume that $\lambda_1^{[N]} > \lambda_2^{[N]} > \cdots > \lambda_{N+1}^{[N]}$.

Proposition 3.3. For $k \in \{1, \ldots, N+1\}$, the vectors $Q^{\langle N \rangle}|_{x=\lambda_k^{[N]}}$ and $R^{\langle N \rangle}|_{x=\lambda_k^{[N]}}$ are left and right eigenvectors of $T^{[N]}$, respectively.

Proof. Properties ii) and iv) in Proposition 3.2 and an evaluation at $\lambda_k^{[N]}$ leads to the result. \Box

4. Christoffel–Darboux formula

We present now a generalized Christoffel–Darboux formula for the determinantal polynomials and the characteristic polynomial of a banded matrix. These results are an extension of the formulas found in [25] for the non-mixed case, see also [22]. Christoffel– Darboux formulas, not of the type described here, for the mixed multiple orthogonality were discussed in [26] and also in [2,10].

Proposition 4.1 (Christoffel–Darboux type formulas).

i) For the determinantal polynomials $Q_{n,N}$ and $R_{n,N}$ introduced in (11) we get the following generalized Christoffel–Darboux formula

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N} Q_{n,N}(x) R_{n,N}(y) = \frac{1}{\alpha_N \beta_N} \frac{P_{N+1}(x) P_N(y) - P_N(x) P_{N+1}(y)}{x - y}.$$
 (13)

ii) The following generalized confluent Christoffel–Darboux relation is fulfilled

$$\sum_{n=0}^{N} Q_{n,N} R_{n,N} = \frac{1}{\alpha_N \beta_N} \left(P'_{N+1} P_N - P'_N P_{N+1} \right).$$
(14)

22

Proof. We use (12) to get

$$-Q^{\langle N \rangle}(x) \begin{bmatrix} 0\\ \vdots\\ 0\\ T_{N,N+q}R_{N+q,N}(y) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 0 \cdots 0 \ T_{N+p,N}Q_{N+p,N}(x) \end{bmatrix} R^{\langle N \rangle}(y)$$
$$= (x-y)Q^{\langle N \rangle}(x)R^{\langle N \rangle}(y).$$

Now, recalling $Q_{N,N} = \alpha_N^{-1} P_N$, $Q_{N+p,N} = (-1)^{p-1} \alpha_{N+1}^{-1} P_{N+1}$, $\alpha_{N+1} = (-1)^{p-1} T_{N+p,N} \alpha_N$, $R_{N,N} = \beta_N^{-1} P_N$, $R_{N+q,N} = (-1)^{q-1} \beta_{N+1}^{-1} P_{N+1}$, $\beta_{N+1} = (-1)^{q-1} T_{N,N+q} \beta_N$, we obtain (13). Finally, (14) appears as a limit in (13). \Box

5. Biorthogonality and Christoffel numbers

We now discuss, for the truncated situation, how to construct biorthogonal families of left and right eigenvectors and introduce the Christoffel numbers in this setting.

Definition 5.1 (*Christoffel numbers*). The Christoffel numbers or coefficients are defined as

$$\begin{split} \mu_{k,1}^{[N]} &:= \frac{\left| \begin{array}{c} A_{N+1}^{(2)}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) \cdots A_{N+1}^{(p)}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) \\ \vdots \\ A_{N+p-1}^{(2)}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) \cdots A_{N+p-1}^{(p)}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) \\ \beta_{N} \sum_{l=0}^{N} Q_{l,N}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) R_{l,N}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) \\ \beta_{N} \sum_{l=0}^{N} Q_{l,N}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) \cdots A_{N+1}^{(p)}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) \\ \vdots \\ \mu_{k,2}^{[N]} &:= - \frac{\left| \begin{array}{c} A_{N+1}^{(1)}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) & A_{N+1}^{(3)}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) \cdots A_{N+1}^{(p)}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) \\ \vdots \\ A_{N+p-1}^{(1)}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) & A_{N+p-1}^{(3)}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) \cdots A_{N+p-1}^{(p)}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) \\ \beta_{N} \sum_{l=0}^{N} Q_{l,N}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) R_{l,N}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) \\ \vdots \\ \beta_{N} \sum_{l=0}^{N} Q_{l,N}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) R_{l,N}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) \\ \vdots \\ \beta_{N} \sum_{l=0}^{N} Q_{l,N}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) R_{l,N}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) \\ \beta_{N} \sum_{l=0}^{N} Q_{l,N}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) R_{l,N}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) \\ \beta_{N} \sum_{l=0}^{N} Q_{l,N}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) R_{l,N}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) \\ \vdots \\ B_{N+q-1}^{(2)}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) \cdots B_{N+q-1}^{(q)}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) \\ \vdots \\ B_{N+q-1}^{(2)}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) \cdots B_{N+q-1}^{(q)}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) \\ \end{array} \right|, \end{split}$$

$$\rho_{k,2}^{[N]} := -\beta_N \begin{vmatrix} B_{N+1}^{(1)}(\lambda_k^{[N]}) & B_{N+1}^{(3)}(\lambda_k^{[N]}) \cdots & B_{N+1}^{(q)}(\lambda_k^{[N]}) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ B_{N+q-1}^{(1)}(\lambda_k^{[N]}) & B_{n+q-1}^{(3)}(\lambda_k^{[N]}) \cdots & B_{N+q-1}^{(p)}(\lambda_k^{[N]}) \end{vmatrix} \\
\vdots \\
\rho_{k,q}^{[N]} := (-1)^{q-1} \beta_N \begin{vmatrix} B_{N+1}^{(1)}(\lambda_k^{[N]}) & \cdots & B_{N+1}^{(q-1)}(\lambda_k^{[N]}) \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ B_{N+q-1}^{(1)}(\lambda_k^{[N]}) \cdots & B_{N+q-1}^{(q-1)}(\lambda_k^{[N]}) \end{vmatrix} .$$

Proposition 5.2 (Spectral properties). Assume that P_{N+1} has simple zeros at the set $\{\lambda_k^{[N]}\}_{k=1}^{N+1}$, so that the vectors $u_k^{\langle N \rangle} := R^{\langle N \rangle}(\lambda_k^{[N]})$ and $\tilde{w}_k^{\langle N \rangle} := Q^{\langle N \rangle}(\lambda_k^{[N]})$ are right and left eigenvectors of $T^{[N]}$, respectively, $k = 1, \ldots, N+1$. Then:

i) Biorthogonal families left and right eigenvectors $\left\{w_k^{\langle N \rangle}\right\}_{k=1}^{N+1}$ and $\left\{u_k^{\langle N \rangle}\right\}_{k=1}^{N+1}$, are

$$w_k^{\langle N \rangle} = \frac{Q^{\langle N \rangle} (\lambda_k^{[N]})}{\beta_N \sum_{l=0}^N Q_{l,N} (\lambda_k^{[N]}) R_{l,N} (\lambda_k^{[N]})}, \qquad u_k^{\langle N \rangle} = \beta_N R^{\langle N \rangle} (\lambda_k^{[N]}).$$

ii) The following expression holds

$$w_{k,n}^{\langle N \rangle} = \frac{\alpha_N Q_{n-1,N}(\lambda_k^{[N]})}{P_N(\lambda_k^{[N]}) P'_{N+1}(\lambda_k^{[N]})}, \qquad u_{k,n}^{\langle N \rangle} = \beta_N R_{n-1,N}(\lambda_k^{[N]}).$$
(15)

iii) In terms of the Christoffel numbers we can write

$$w_{k,n}^{\langle N \rangle} = A_{n-1}^{(1)} (\lambda_k^{[N]}) \mu_{k,1}^{[N]} + \dots + A_{n-1}^{(p)} (\lambda_k^{[N]}) \mu_{k,p}^{[N]},$$
(16)

$$u_{k,n}^{\langle N \rangle} = B_{n-1}^{(1)} (\lambda_k^{[N]}) \rho_{k,1}^{[N]} + \dots + B_{n-1}^{(q)} (\lambda_k^{[N]}) \rho_{k,q}^{[N]}.$$
(17)

iv) For the Christoffel numbers it holds that





v) The corresponding matrices \mathcal{U} (with columns the right eigenvectors u_k arranged in the standard order) and \mathcal{W} (with rows the left eigenvectors w_k arranged in the standard order) satisfy

$$\mathcal{U}\mathcal{W} = \mathcal{W}\mathcal{U} = I_{N+1}.$$

vi) In terms of the eigenvalues diagonal matrix $D = \text{diag}(\lambda_1^{[N]}, \dots, \lambda_{N+1}^{[N]})$ we have

$$\mathscr{U}D^{n}\mathscr{W} = \left(T^{[N]}\right)^{n}, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}_{0}.$$

- **Proof.** i) As the zeros are simple we have that left and right eigenvectors are orthogonal, i.e., $\tilde{w}_{k}^{\langle N \rangle} u_{l}^{\langle N \rangle} = \delta_{k,l} \sum_{r=0}^{N} Q_{r,N}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) R_{r,N}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]})$. Hence, we divide by $\sum_{r=0}^{N} Q_{r,N}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) R_{r,N}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]})$ to get normalized left eigenvectors.
- ii) It follows from the previous result and Equation (14).
- iii) In Equation (11) expand the determinant in $Q_{n-1,N}$ along its first row.
- iv) Use (16) for the first p entries

$$\begin{bmatrix} w_{k,1}^{\langle N \rangle} \\ \vdots \\ w_{k,p}^{\langle N \rangle} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} A_0^{(1)}(\lambda_k^{[N]}) \cdots A_0^{(p)}(\lambda_k^{[N]}) \\ \vdots \\ A_{p-1}^{(1)}(\lambda_k^{[N]}) \cdots A_{p-1}^{(p)}(\lambda_k^{[N]}) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mu_{k,1}^{[N]} \\ \vdots \\ \mu_{k,p}^{[N]} \end{bmatrix}$$

and the initial conditions (8)

$$\begin{bmatrix} A_0^{(1)}(\lambda_k^{[N]}) \cdots A_0^{(p)}(\lambda_k^{[N]}) \\ A_1^{(1)}(\lambda_k^{[N]}) \cdots A_1^{(p)}(\lambda_k^{[N]}) \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ A_{p-1}^{(1)}(\lambda_k^{[N]}) \cdots A_{p-1}^{(p)}(\lambda_k^{[N]}) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \cdots \cdots 0 \\ \nu_1^{(1)} & 1 & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \nu_1^{(1)} & 1 & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \nu_{p-1}^{(1)} \cdots \dots \nu_{p-1}^{(p-1)} \cdot 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

to obtain the result. For the right vectors proceed similarly.

- v) It follows from the biorthogonality of the left and right eigenvectors.
- vi) Notice that $\mathscr{U}D^n = (T^{[N]})^n \mathscr{U}$ and use $\mathscr{U}^{-1} = \mathscr{W}$ to get $\mathscr{U}D^n \mathscr{W} = (T^{[N]})^n$ as desired. \Box

6. Mixed multiple discrete orthogonality

We reformulate the previous discussed biorthogonality in terms of a set of discrete measures and corresponding mixed multiple discrete orthogonality. We remind that $\lambda_1^{[N]} > \lambda_2^{[N]} > \cdots > \lambda_N^{[N]}$.

Definition 6.1 (Step functions). Let us consider the following step functions

$$\psi_{b,a}^{[N]} := \begin{cases} 0, & x < \lambda_{N+1}^{[N]}, \\ \rho_{1,b}^{[N]} \mu_{1,a}^{[N]} + \dots + \rho_{k,b}^{[N]} \mu_{k,a}^{[N]}, & \lambda_{k+1}^{[N]} \leqslant x < \lambda_{k}^{[N]}, & k \in \{1,\dots,N\}, \\ \rho_{1,b}^{[N]} \mu_{1,a}^{[N]} + \dots + \rho_{N+1,b}^{[N]} \mu_{N+1,a}^{[N]}, & x \geqslant \lambda_{1}^{[N]}. \end{cases}$$

We now show that last step of these step functions is bounded. This implies in the case of positive Christoffel coefficients that these step functions are uniformly bounded in N. For that aim we need to introduce the matrix $I_{q,p} \in \mathbb{R}^{q \times p}$, with $(I_{q,p})_{k,l} = \delta_{k,l}$. Thus, if p = q we are dealing with the identity matrix, however if $p \neq q$ is a rectangular matrix with a square block with the identity $I_{\min(p,q)}$ completed with a zero block.

Proposition 6.2. *For* $a \in \{1, ..., p\}$ *and* $b \in \{1, ..., q\}$ *, we have*

$$\rho_{1,b}^{[N]}\mu_{1,a}^{[N]} + \dots + \rho_{N+1,b}^{[N]}\mu_{N+1,a}^{[N]} = (\xi^{-1}I_{q,p}\nu^{-\top})_{b,a}.$$

Proof. Let us write (18) in the alternative form

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mu_{1,1}^{[N]} \cdots \cdots \mu_{1,p}^{[N]} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ \mu_{N+1,1}^{[N]} \cdots \dots \mu_{N+1,p}^{[N]} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} w_{1,1}^{\langle N \rangle} \cdots w_{1,p}^{\langle N \rangle} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ w_{N+1,1}^{\langle N \rangle} \cdots w_{N+1,p}^{\langle N \rangle} \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \cdots \cdots & 0 \\ \nu_{1}^{(1)} & 1 & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \nu_{1}^{\langle 1 \rangle} \cdots \dots \nu_{1}^{\langle n \rangle} \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \cdots \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \xi_{1}^{\langle 1 \rangle} \cdots & \xi_{q-1}^{\langle q-1 \rangle} \cdot 1 \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} u_{1,1}^{\langle N \rangle} \cdots & u_{N+1,1}^{\langle N \rangle} \\ u_{1,q}^{\langle N \rangle} \cdots & u_{N+1,q}^{\langle N \rangle} \\ u_{1,q}^{\langle N \rangle} \cdots & u_{N+1,q}^{\langle N \rangle} \end{bmatrix}.$$

From $\mathscr{U}\mathscr{W} = I$, we obtain

$$\begin{bmatrix} u_{1,1}^{\langle N \rangle} \cdots u_{N+1,1}^{\langle N \rangle} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ u_{1,q}^{\langle N \rangle} \cdots u_{N+1,q}^{\langle N \rangle} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} w_{1,1}^{\langle N \rangle} \cdots w_{1,p}^{\langle N \rangle} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ w_{N+1,1}^{\langle N \rangle} \cdots w_{N+1,p}^{\langle N \rangle} \end{bmatrix} = I_{q,p}.$$

Hence,

$$\begin{bmatrix} \rho_{1,1}^{[N]} \cdots \rho_{N+1,1}^{[N]} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ \rho_{1,q}^{[N]} \cdots \rho_{N+1,q}^{[N]} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mu_{1,1}^{[N]} \cdots \dots \mu_{1,p}^{[N]} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ \mu_{N+1,1}^{[N]} \cdots \mu_{N+1,p}^{[N]} \end{bmatrix} = \xi^{-1} I_{q,p} \nu^{-\top}$$
(19)

and we get $\mu_{1,a}^{[N]}\rho_{1,b}^{[N]} + \dots + \mu_{N+1,a}^{[N]}\rho_{N+1,b}^{[N]} = (\xi^{-1}I_{q,p}\nu^{-\top})_{b,a}.$

Notice that these functions have bounded variation and are right continuous, so it makes sense to consider the associated Lebesgue–Stieltjes measures.

Definition 6.3 (Matrix of discrete measures). Let us introduce a $q \times p$ matrix $\Psi^{[N]} := \begin{bmatrix} \psi_{1,1}^{[N]} \cdots \psi_{1,p}^{[N]} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ \psi_{q,1}^{[N]} \cdots \psi_{q,p}^{[N]} \end{bmatrix}$ and the corresponding $q \times p$ matrix of discrete Lebesgue–Stieltjes measures supported at the zeros of P_{N+1} ,

$$d\Psi^{[N]} = \begin{bmatrix} d\psi_{1,1}^{[N]} \cdots d\psi_{1,p}^{[N]} \\ \vdots \\ d\psi_{q,1}^{[N]} \cdots d\psi_{q,p}^{[N]} \end{bmatrix} = \sum_{k=1}^{N+1} \begin{bmatrix} \rho_{k,1}^{[N]} \\ \vdots \\ \rho_{k,q}^{[N]} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mu_{k,1}^{[N]} \cdots \mu_{k,p}^{[N]} \end{bmatrix} \delta(x - \lambda_k^{[N]}).$$
(20)

Remark 6.4. This matrix of discrete measures is rank 1 at each point of the support.

Theorem 6.5 (Mixed multiple discrete biorthogonality). Assume that the recursion polynomials P_{N+1} have simple zeros $\{\lambda_k^{[N]}\}_{k=1}^{N+1}$. The following biorthogonal relations hold

$$\sum_{a=1}^{p} \sum_{b=1}^{q} \int B_{n}^{(b)}(x) \,\mathrm{d}\,\psi_{b,a}^{[N]}(x) A_{m}^{(a)}(x) = \delta_{n,m}, \qquad n, m \in \{0, \dots, N\}$$

Proof. It follows from Equations (16), (17) and $\mathcal{U}\mathcal{W} = I$. \Box

From this biorthogonality we get the following:

Corollary 6.6 (Mixed multiple discrete orthogonality). Assume that the polynomial P_{N+1} has simple zeros $\{\lambda_k^{[N]}\}_{k=1}^{N+1}$. Then, the following discrete type mixed multiple orthogonality for $m \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$ is satisfied:

$$\sum_{a=1}^{p} \int x^{n} \,\mathrm{d}\,\psi_{b,a}^{[N]} A_{m}^{(a)} = 0, \qquad n \in \left\{0, \dots, \deg B_{m-1}^{(b)}\right\}, \qquad b \in \{1, \dots, q\},$$
$$\sum_{b=1}^{q} \int B_{m}^{(b)} \,\mathrm{d}\,\psi_{b,a}^{[N]} x^{n} = 0, \qquad n \in \left\{0, \dots, \deg A_{m-1}^{(a)}\right\}, \qquad a \in \{1, \dots, p\}.$$

7. Positive bidiagonal factorization and Christoffel numbers positivity

Positive bidiagonal factorization (PBF) accommodates naturally to TN banded matrices as all the subdiagonals may be constructed in terms of simpler bidiagonal matrices.

Definition 7.1 (Positive bidiagonal factorization). We say that a banded matrix T as in (1) admits a PBF if

$$T = L_1 \cdots L_p \Delta U_q \cdots U_1,$$

with $\Delta = \operatorname{diag}(\Delta_0, \Delta_1, \dots)$ and bidiagonal matrices given respectively by

$$L_{k} := \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & \cdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \end{bmatrix}, \qquad U_{k} := \begin{bmatrix} 1 & U_{k|0} & 0 & \cdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 1 & U_{k|1} & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & 1 & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & 1 & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \end{bmatrix}$$

and such that the positivity constraints $L_{k|i}, U_{k|i}, \Delta_i > 0$, for $i \in \mathbb{N}_0$, are satisfied.

Remark 7.2. Notice that $L_1^{[N]}, \ldots, L_p^{[N]}, \Delta^{[N]}, U_q^{[N]}, \ldots, U_1^{[N]} \in \text{InTN}.$

Proposition 7.3. The above positive bidiagonal factorization of T induces the following positive bidiagonal factorization for the leading principal submatrix $T^{[N]}$

$$T^{[N]} = L_1^{[N]} \cdots L_p^{[N]} \Delta^{[N]} U_q^{[N]} \cdots U_1^{[N]}.$$
 (21)

Proposition 7.4. If T has a PBF then its leading principal submatrices $T^{[N]}$ are oscillatory.

Proof. As all factors are InTN the product matrix is InTN. Moreover, as all parameters in the bidiagonal factors are positive then using Gantmacher–Krein Criterion we get that the matrix is oscillatory. \Box

Proposition 7.5 (Interlacing). Let us assume that T is oscillatory. Then:

i) The polynomial P_{N+1} interlaces P_N .

ii) For $x \in \mathbb{R}$, for the corresponding Wronskian we find $P'_{N+1}P_N - P'_NP_{N+1} > 0$. In particular,

$$(P'_{N+1}P_N)\Big|_{x=\lambda_k^{[N]}} > 0, \qquad (P_{N+1}P'_N)\Big|_{x=\lambda_k^{[N-1]}} < 0.$$

- iii) The confluent kernel is a positive function; i.e., $\alpha_N \beta_N \sum_{n=0}^N Q_{n,N}(x) R_{n,N}(x) > 0$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}$.
- **Proof.** i) Given that $T^{[N]}$ is oscillatory the polynomial P_{N+1} interlaces P_N , see Theorem 1.5.
- ii) As the polynomials interlace its Wronskian $P'_{N+1}P_N P'_NP_{N+1}$ has constant sign for $x \in \mathbb{R}^1$ and, as the characteristic polynomials are monic, we have that $P'_{N+1}P_N$ – $P'_{N}P_{N+1} = x^{2N} + O(x^{2N-1}) \text{ for } |x| \to \infty. \text{ Hence, the Wronskian is positive and} \\ P_{N}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]})P'_{N}(\lambda_{k}^{[N]}) > 0 \text{ and } P'_{N}(\lambda_{k}^{[N-1]})P_{N}(\lambda_{k}^{[N-1]}) > 0. \\ \text{iii) From (14) we get } \sum_{n=0}^{N} Q_{n,N}R_{n,N} = \frac{1}{\alpha_{N}\beta_{N}} \left(P'_{N+1}P_{N} - P'_{N}P_{N+1}\right) \text{ and the result}$
- follows immediately. \Box

We now explore some consequences that a positive bidiagonal factorization has. For that aim we introduce the idea of Darboux transformation of a banded Hessenberg matrix. Darboux transformations for banded Hessenberg matrices (beyond the tridiagonal situation) were discussed in [14]. In [21] for the tetradiagonal case, and corresponding multiple orthogonal polynomials in the step-line with two weights, the PBF factorization is given in terms of the values of the orthogonal polynomials of type I and II at 0 and, consequently, an spectral interpretation of the Darboux transformation is given.

Definition 7.6 (Darboux transformations of banded matrices). Let us assume that T admits a bidiagonal factorization (not necessarily positive). For each of its truncations $T^{[N]}$ we consider a chain of new auxiliary matrices, called Darboux transformations, given by the consecutive permutation of the unitriangular matrices in the factorization (21),

$$\begin{split} \hat{T}^{[N,+1]} &= L_2^{[N]} \cdots L_p^{[N]} \Delta^{[N]} U_q^{[N]} \cdots U_1^{[N]} L_1^{[N]}, \\ \hat{T}^{[N,+2]} &= L_3^{[N]} \cdots L_p^{[N]} \Delta^{[N]} U_q^{[N]} \cdots U_1^{[N]} L_1^{[N]} L_2^{[N]}, \\ &\vdots \\ \hat{T}^{[N,+(p-1)]} &= L_p^{[N]} \Delta^{[N]} U_q^{[N]} \cdots U_1^{[N]} L_1^{[N]} L_2^{[N]} \cdots L_{p-1}^{[N]}, \end{split}$$

¹ In terms of $\pi_k^{[N]} := \frac{P_{N+1}}{x - \lambda_k^{[N]}} = \prod_{l \neq k} \left(x - \lambda_l^{[N]} \right)$ we have $P_N = \sum_{k=1}^{N+1} b_k \pi_k^{[N]}$ with $b_l = \frac{P_N(\lambda_l^{[N]})}{\pi_k^{[N]}(\lambda_k^{[N]})} \neq 0$ and that, as these polynomials interlaces, all the b_k have the same sign; indeed, sgn $P_N(\lambda_l^{[N]}) = -\operatorname{sgn} P_N(\lambda_{l+1}^{[N]})$ by interlacing and $\operatorname{sgn} \pi_l^{[N]}(\lambda_l^{[N]}) = -\operatorname{sgn} \pi_{l+1}^{[N]}(\lambda_{l+1}^{[N]})$ by definition. Consequently, $\frac{P_N}{P_{N+1}} = \sum_{k=1}^{N+1} \frac{b_k}{x - \lambda_k^{[N]}}$, so that $P'_{N+1}P_N - P'_N P_{N+1} = P_{N+1}^2 \left(\frac{P_N}{P_{N+1}}\right)' = -P_{N+1}^2 \sum_{k=1}^{N+1} \frac{b_k}{(x-\lambda_k^{[N]})^2} = -\sum_{k=1}^{N+1} b_k (\pi_k^{[N]})^2$, and the result follows.

$$\hat{T}^{[N,+p]} = \Delta^{[N]} U_q^{[N]} \cdots U_1^{[N]} L_1^{[N]} L_2^{[N]} \cdots L_p^{[N]},$$

and

$$\begin{split} \hat{T}^{[N,-1]} &= U_1^{[N]} L_1^{[N]} \cdots L_p^{[N]} \Delta^{[N]} U_q^{[N]} \cdots U_2^{[N]}, \\ \hat{T}^{[N,-2]} &= U_2^{[N]} U_1^{[N]} L_1^{[N]} \cdots L_p^{[N]} \Delta^{[N]} U_q^{[N]} \cdots U_3^{[N]}, \\ &\vdots \\ \hat{T}^{[N,-(q-1)]} &= U_{q-1}^{[N]} \cdots U_1^{[N]} L_1^{[N]} L_2^{[N]} \cdots L_p^{[N]} \Delta^{[N]} U_q^{[N]}, \\ \hat{T}^{[N,-q]} &= U_q^{[N]} \cdots U_1^{[N]} L_1^{[N]} L_2^{[N]} \cdots L_p^{[N]} \Delta^{[N]}. \end{split}$$

Lemma 7.7. Darboux transformations are banded matrices with only its first p subdiagonals, main diagonal and q superdiagonals possibly different from zero. If T admits a PBF then entries in these diagonals are positive.

Proof. It is a simple computation recalling the positivity of the nonzero entries. \Box

Lemma 7.8. Let us assume that T has a PBF. Then, for $k \in \{1, ..., p\}$, we find:

- i) The Darboux transformations $\hat{T}^{[N,+a]}$, $a \in \{1, \ldots, p\}$, $\hat{T}^{[N,-b]}$, $b \in \{1, \ldots, q\}$ are oscillatory.
- ii) The characteristic polynomial of the Darboux transformations $\hat{T}^{[N,+a]}$, $a \in \{1, \ldots, p\}$, $\hat{T}^{[N,-b]}$, $b \in \{1, \ldots, q\}$ is P_{N+1} .
- iii) If w, u are left and right eigenvectors of $T^{[N]}$, respectively, then $\hat{w} = wL_1^{[N]} \cdots L_a^{[N]}$ is a left eigenvector of $\hat{T}^{[N,+a]}$ and $\hat{u} = U_b^{[N]} \cdots U_1^{[N]} u$ is a right eigenvector of $\hat{T}^{[N,-b]}$.
- **Proof.** i) Each bidiagonal factor belongs to InTN. Then, the Darboux transformation $\hat{T}^{[N,k]}$ is a product of matrices in InTN and, consequently, belongs to InTN. Moreover, the entries in the first subdiagonal and first superdiagonal are sums of products of elements coming from the entries of the positive subdiagonal or superdiagonal of the matrices $L_j^{[N]}$ and $U_m^{[N]}$, for $j = 1, \ldots, p$, and $m = 1, \ldots, q$. According to Gantmacher–Krein Criterion is an oscillatory matrix.
- ii) As $\hat{T}^{[N,+a]} = (L_1^{[N]} \cdots L_a^{[N]})^{-1} T^{[N]} L_1^{[N]} \cdots L_a^{[N]}$ its characteristic polynomial is P_{N+1} . Similarly, as $\hat{T}^{[N,-b]} = U_b^{[N]} \cdots U_1^{[N]} T^{[N]} (U_b^{[N]} \cdots U_1^{[N]})^{-1}$ the corresponding characteristic polynomial is again P_{N+1} .
- iii) We see that

$$\begin{split} \lambda \hat{w} &= \lambda w L_1^{[N]} \cdots L_a^{[N]} = w L_1^{[N]} \cdots L_a^{[N]} L_{a+1}^{[N]} \cdots L_p^{[N]} \Delta^{[N]} U_q^{[N]} \cdots U_1^{[N]} L_1^{[N]} \cdots L_a^{[N]} \\ &= \hat{w} \hat{T}^{[N]}, \\ \lambda \hat{u} &= \lambda U_b^{[N]} \cdots U_1^{[N]} u = U_b^{[N]} \cdots U_1^{[N]} L_1^{[N]} \cdots L_p^{[N]} \Delta^{[N]} U_q^{[N]} \cdots U_{b+1}^{[N]} U_b^{[N]} \cdots U_1^{[N]} u \end{split}$$

30

$$=\hat{T}^{[N]}\hat{u}.$$

In order to show the positivity of the Christoffel coefficients we require of some preliminary notation.

Definition 7.9. Let us define the matrices

$$\Lambda := \begin{bmatrix} \Lambda^{(1)} \cdots \Lambda^{(p)} \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{p \times p}, \quad \Upsilon := \begin{bmatrix} \Upsilon^{(1)} \\ \vdots \\ \Upsilon^{(q)} \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{q \times q},$$

with

$$\Lambda^{(1)} := \begin{bmatrix} 1\\ 0\\ \vdots\\ 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \Lambda^{(k)} := \frac{1}{r_k} L_1^{[p-1]} \cdots L_{k-1}^{[p-1]} \begin{bmatrix} 1\\ 0\\ \vdots\\ 0 \end{bmatrix},$$
$$r_k := L_{k|0} L_{k-1|1} \cdots L_{1|k-1}, \qquad k \in \{2, \dots, p\},$$

and

$$\Upsilon^{(1)} := \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \Upsilon^{(k)} := \frac{1}{s_k} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix} U_1^{[q-1]} \cdots U_{k-1}^{[q-1]},$$
$$s_k := U_{k|0} U_{k-1|1} \cdots U_{1|k-1}, \qquad k \in \{2, \dots, q\}.$$

Lemma 7.10. The matrices Λ and Υ are positive upper and lower unitriangular matrices, respectively.

Theorem 7.11 (Christoffel numbers positivity). Let us assume that T has a PBF and choose the matrices of initial conditions as

$$\nu^{-\top} = \Lambda \mathcal{A}, \qquad \xi^{-1} = \mathcal{B}\Upsilon, \tag{22}$$

for some upper and lower unitriangular nonnegative matrices $\mathcal{A} \in \mathbb{R}^{p \times p}$ and $\mathcal{B} \in \mathbb{R}^{q \times q}$, respectively. Then,

$$\rho_{k,b}^{[N]} > 0, \qquad \mu_{k,a}^{[N]} > 0, \qquad k \in 1, \dots, N+1, \qquad a \in \{1, \dots, p\}, \qquad b \in \{1, \dots, q\}.$$

Proof. Recall that the Christoffel numbers can be expressed, in terms of the initial condition matrices ξ and ν , through the formulas

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mu_{k,1}^{[N]} \cdots \mu_{k,p}^{[N]} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} w_{k,1}^{\langle N \rangle} \cdots w_{k,p}^{\langle N \rangle} \end{bmatrix} \nu^{-\top}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \rho_{k,1}^{[N]} \\ \vdots \\ \rho_{k,q}^{[N]} \end{bmatrix} = \xi^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} u_{k,1}^{\langle N \rangle} \\ \vdots \\ u_{k,q}^{\langle N \rangle} \end{bmatrix},$$

that relates these Christoffel numbers with the corresponding biorthogonal families of right and left eigenvectors. Notice that the entries of these biorthogonal right and left eigenvectors can be written as $w_{k,a}^{\langle N \rangle} = \alpha_N \frac{Q_{a-1,N}}{P'_{N+1}P_N}\Big|_{x=\lambda_k^{[N]}}$ and $u_{k,b}^{\langle N \rangle} = \beta_N R_{b-1,N} (\lambda_k^{[N]})$, see (15). Hence, recall iii) in Proposition 7.5, the Christoffel numbers are positive if and only if

$$\beta_N \xi^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} R_{0,N} \\ \vdots \\ R_{q-1,N} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \frac{1}{\beta_N} \left[Q_{0,N} \cdots Q_{p-1,N} \right] \nu^{-\top}$$

are positive vectors at the points $x = \lambda_k^{[N]}$, $k \in \{1, \ldots, N+1\}$. We will show now that is possible to choose the initial condition matrices ν, ξ such that this holds true.

Now, we consider left and right eigenvectors with last entry normalized to 1

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{Q_{0,N}}{Q_{N,N}} \Big|_{x=\lambda_k^{[N]}} & \frac{Q_{1,N}}{Q_{N,N}} \Big|_{x=\lambda_k^{[N]}} \cdots 1 \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} \frac{R_{0,N}}{R_{N,N}} \Big|_{x=\lambda_k^{[N]}} \\ \frac{R_{1,N}}{R_{N,N}} \Big|_{x=\lambda_k^{[N]}} \\ \vdots \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

It is important to recall that according to Theorem 1.6 the last entry of any eigenvector is nonzero, i.e. so that we can normalize the last entry to 1. Despite, this is not the biorthogonal normalization is interesting for our purposes. Recall that $Q_{N,N} = \alpha_N^{-1} P_N$, $R_{N,N} = \beta_N^{-1} P_N$ and that, according to Theorem 1.6, the first eigenvector entries are not zero; i.e., $\alpha_N \left. \frac{Q_{0,N}}{P_N} \right|_{x=\lambda_k^{[N]}}$, $\beta_N \left. \frac{R_{0,N}}{P_N} \right|_{x=\lambda_k^{[N]}} \neq 0$. As the last entry is positive the change sign properties described in Theorem 1.6 leads to

$$\begin{split} & \alpha_N \left. \frac{Q_{0,N}}{P_N} \right|_{x=\lambda_1^{[N]}} > 0, \qquad \alpha_N \left. \frac{Q_{0,N}}{P_N} \right|_{x=\lambda_2^{[N]}} < 0, \\ & \alpha_N \left. \frac{Q_{0,N}}{P_N} \right|_{x=\lambda_3^{[N]}} > 0, \\ & \beta_N \left. \frac{R_{0,N}}{P_N} \right|_{x=\lambda_1^{[N]}} > 0, \qquad \beta_N \left. \frac{R_{0,N}}{P_N} \right|_{x=\lambda_2^{[N]}} < 0, \\ & \beta_N \left. \frac{R_{0,N}}{P_N} \right|_{x=\lambda_3^{[N]}} > 0, \end{split}$$

and so on, alternating the sign. Now, as T is oscillatory and the characteristic polynomial P_{N+1} interlaces P_N we have that sgn $P_N(\lambda_k^{[N]}) = (-1)^{k-1}$ so that

$$\alpha_N Q_{0,N}(\lambda_k^{[N]}), \beta_N R_{0,N}(\lambda_k^{[N]}) > 0, \qquad k \in \{1, \dots, N+1\}.$$

Now, we start using the Darboux transformations. Recall that $\hat{T}^{[N,\pm 1]}$ is an oscillatory matrix with characteristic polynomial P_{N+1} . Then, a left eigenvector of $T^{[N,+1]}$ for the eigenvalue $\lambda_k^{[N]}$ can be chosen as

$$\left[\alpha_N \frac{Q_{0,N}}{P_N} \Big|_{x=\lambda_k^{[N]}} \alpha_N \frac{Q_{1,N}}{P_N} \Big|_{x=\lambda_k^{[N]}} \cdots 1 \right] L_1^{[N]} = \left[\alpha_N \frac{(Q_{0,N} + L_{1|0}Q_{1,N})}{P_N} \Big|_{x=\lambda_k^{[N]}} \cdots 1 \right],$$

and a right eigenvector of $T^{[N,-1]}$ for the eigenvalue $\lambda_k^{[N]}$ can be taken as

$$U_{1}^{[N]} \begin{bmatrix} \beta_{N} \frac{R_{0,N}}{P_{N}} \Big|_{x=\lambda_{k}^{[N]}} \\ \beta_{N} \frac{R_{1,N}}{P_{N}} \Big|_{x=\lambda_{k}^{[N]}} \\ \vdots \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \beta_{N} \frac{(R_{0,N}+U_{1|0}R_{1,N})}{P_{N}} \Big|_{x=\lambda_{k}^{[N]}} \\ \vdots \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Using again the sign properties of the eigenvectors associated to an oscillatory matrix we get

$$\begin{split} & \alpha_N \left. \frac{\frac{1}{L_{1|0}} Q_{0,N} + Q_{1,N}}{P_N} \right|_{x=\lambda_1^{[N]}} > 0, \qquad \alpha_N \left. \frac{\frac{1}{L_{1|0}} Q_{0,N} + Q_{1,N}}{P_N} \right|_{x=\lambda_2^{[N]}} < 0, \\ & \alpha_N \left. \frac{\frac{1}{L_{1|0}} Q_{0,N} + Q_{1,N}}{P_N} \right|_{x=\lambda_3^{[N]}} > 0, \\ & \beta_N \left. \frac{\frac{1}{U_{1|0}} R_{0,N} + R_{1,N}}{P_N} \right|_{x=\lambda_1^{[N]}} > 0, \qquad \beta_N \left. \frac{\frac{1}{U_{1|0}} R_{0,N} + R_{1,N}}{P_N} \right|_{x=\lambda_2^{[N]}} < 0, \\ & \beta_N \left. \frac{\frac{1}{U_{1|0}} R_{0,N} + R_{1,N}}{P_N} \right|_{x=\lambda_3^{[N]}} > 0, \end{split}$$

and so on alternating the sign. Recalling the sign of P_N at the zeros of P_{N+1} we get

$$\alpha_N \left(\frac{1}{L_{1|0}} Q_{0,N} + Q_{1,N} \right) \Big|_{x = \lambda_k^{[N]}}, \beta_N \left(\frac{1}{U_{1|0}} R_{0,N} + R_{1,N} \right) \Big|_{x = \lambda_k^{[N]}} > 0, \quad k \in \{1, \dots, N+1\}.$$

Now we consider the matrices $\hat{T}^{[N,\pm 2]}$, both oscillatory matrices with characteristic polynomial P_{N+1} . Then, for $T^{[N,+2]}$, a corresponding left eigenvector for the eigenvalue $\lambda_k^{[N]}$ can be chosen as

$$\left[\left. \alpha_N \frac{Q_{0,N}}{P_N} \right|_{x=\lambda_k^{[N]}} \alpha_N \left. \frac{Q_{1,N}}{P_N} \right|_{x=\lambda_k^{[N]}} \cdots 1 \right] L_1^{[N]} L_2^{[N]}$$

$$= \left[\alpha_N \left. \frac{Q_{0,N} + (L_{1|0} + L_{2|0})Q_{1,N} + L_{1|1}L_{2|0}Q_{2,N}}{P_N} \right|_{x=\lambda_k^{[N]}} \cdots 1 \right],$$

and for $T^{[N,-2]}$ a corresponding right eigenvector for the eigenvalue $\lambda_k^{[N]}$ can be taken as

$$U_{2}U_{1}\begin{bmatrix} \beta_{N} \frac{R_{0,N}}{P_{N}} \Big|_{x=\lambda_{k}^{[N]}} \\ \beta_{N} \frac{R_{1,N}}{P_{N}} \Big|_{x=\lambda_{k}^{[N]}} \\ \vdots \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \beta_{N} \frac{R_{0,N} + (U_{1|0} + U_{2|0})R_{1,N} + U_{1|1}U_{2|0}R_{2,N}}{P_{N}} \Big|_{x=\lambda_{k}^{[N]}} \\ \vdots \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

Hence, using the sign properties of the eigenvectors associated to an oscillatory matrix we get

$$\begin{split} \alpha_{N} & \frac{\frac{1}{L_{1|1}L_{2|0}}Q_{0,N} + \frac{L_{1|0}+L_{2|0}}{L_{1|1}L_{2|0}}Q_{1,N} + Q_{2,N}}{P_{N}} \bigg|_{x=\lambda_{1}^{[N]}} > 0, \\ \alpha_{N} & \frac{\frac{1}{L_{1|1}L_{2|0}}Q_{0,N} + \frac{L_{1|0}+L_{2|0}}{L_{1|1}L_{2|0}}Q_{1,N} + Q_{2,N}}{P_{N}} \bigg|_{x=\lambda_{2}^{[N]}} < 0, \\ \beta_{N} & \frac{\frac{1}{U_{1|1}U_{2|0}}R_{0,N} + \frac{U_{1|0}+U_{2|0}}{U_{1|1}U_{2|0}}R_{1,N} + R_{2,N}}{P_{N}} \bigg|_{x=\lambda_{1}^{[N]}} > 0, \\ \beta_{N} & \frac{\frac{1}{U_{1|1}U_{2|0}}R_{0,N} + \frac{U_{1|0}+U_{2|0}}{U_{1|1}U_{2|0}}R_{1,N} + R_{2,N}}{P_{N}} \bigg|_{x=\lambda_{1}^{[N]}} > 0, \\ \beta_{N} & \frac{\frac{1}{U_{1|1}U_{2|0}}R_{0,N} + \frac{U_{1|0}+U_{2|0}}{U_{1|1}U_{2|0}}R_{1,N} + R_{2,N}}{P_{N}} \bigg|_{x=\lambda_{1}^{[N]}} < 0, \end{split}$$

and so on, alternating the sign. Recalling again the sign of P_N at the zeros of P_{N+1} , we get we obtain

$$\alpha_N \left(\frac{1}{L_{1|1}L_{2|0}} Q_{0,N} + \frac{L_{1|0} + L_{2|0}}{L_{1|1}L_{2|0}} Q_{1,N} + Q_{2,N} \right) \bigg|_{x=\lambda_k^{[N]}} > 0,$$

$$\beta_N \left(\frac{1}{U_{1|1}U_{2|0}} R_{0,N} + \frac{U_{1|0} + U_{2|0}}{U_{1|1}U_{2|0}} R_{1,N} + R_{2,N} \right) \bigg|_{x=\lambda_k^{[N]}} > 0,$$

for $k \in \{1, \dots, N+1\}$.

Consequently, after repeating this process up to $T^{[N,+(p-1)]}$ and $T^{[N,-(q-1)]}$ we find that

$$\beta_N \Upsilon \begin{bmatrix} R_{0,N} \\ \vdots \\ R_{q-1,N} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \alpha_N \begin{bmatrix} Q_{0,N} \cdots Q_{p-1,N} \end{bmatrix} \Lambda,$$

are positive vectors at the points $x = \lambda_k^{[N]}$, $k \in \{1, \dots, N\}$. Therefore, if the initial condition matrices are chosen as indicated in (22) we get the result. \Box

8. Resolvent, second kind polynomials and Weyl functions

From here on we assume that $N \ge \max(p, q)$.

Definition 8.1. Given $r \in \mathbb{N}$, we write $\{e_1^{[r]}, \ldots, e_r^{[r]}\}$ for the canonical basis of \mathbb{R}^r and consider the $r \times (N+1)$ matrix $E_{[r,N+1]} := [I_r \ 0_{r \times (N+1-r)}]$. Then, we introduce the vectors $e_a^{\nu}, e_b^{\xi} \in \mathbb{R}^{N+1}$ with

$$e_a^{\nu} := E_{[p,N+1]}^{\top} \nu^{-\top} e_a^{[p]}, \qquad \left(e_b^{\xi}\right)^{\top} := \left(e_b^{[q]}\right)^{\top} \xi^{-1} E_{[q,N+1]}$$

Lemma 8.2. For the matrices \mathcal{U} and \mathcal{W} (introduced in v) of Proposition 5.2) we find

$$(e_b^{\xi})^{\top} \mathcal{U} = \left[\rho_{1,b}^{[N]} \cdots \rho_{N+1,b}^{[N]} \right], \qquad \mathcal{W} e_a^{\nu} = \begin{bmatrix} \mu_{1,a}^{[N]} \\ \vdots \\ \mu_{N+1,a}^{[N]} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad a \in \{1, \dots, p\}, \qquad b \in \{1, \dots, q\}.$$

Remark 8.3. In matrix form, the above Lemma 8.2 reads

$$\begin{bmatrix} \rho_{1,1}^{[N]} \cdots \rho_{N+1,1}^{[N]} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ \rho_{1,q}^{[N]} \cdots \rho_{N+1,q}^{[N]} \end{bmatrix} = \xi^{-1} E_{[q,N+1]} \mathcal{U}, \qquad \begin{bmatrix} \mu_{1,1}^{[N]} \cdots \dots \mu_{1,p}^{[N]} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ \mu_{N+1,1}^{[N]} \cdots \dots \mu_{N+1,p}^{[N]} \end{bmatrix} = \mathscr{W} E_{[p,N+1]}^{\top} \nu^{-\top}.$$

Also observe that (19) follows from these relations and two facts: $\mathscr{U}\mathscr{W} = I_{N+1}$ and $E_{[q,N+1]}E_{[p,N+1]}^{\top} = I_{q,p}$.

For the following we need of the adjugate matrix $\operatorname{adj} A$ of a matrix A; i.e. of the transpose of the matrix of cofactors (cf. [36]).

Definition 8.4 (Second kind polynomials). The second kind characteristic polynomials are given by

$$P_{N+1}^{(b,a)}(x) := (e_b^{\xi})^{\top} \operatorname{adj}(xI_{N+1} - T^{[N]})e_a^{\nu}, \qquad a \in \{1, \dots, p\}, \qquad b \in \{1, \dots, q\}.$$

Proposition 8.5. For the second kind characteristic polynomials we find

$$P_{N+1}^{(b,a)}(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{N+1} \rho_{k,b}^{[N]} \mu_{k,a}^{[N]} \pi_k^{[N]}(x), \qquad \pi_k^{[N]}(x) := \prod_{\substack{l \in \{1,\dots,N+1\}\\l \neq k}} (x - \lambda_l^{[N]}).$$

Proof. It follows from $\operatorname{adj}(xI_{N+1} - T^{[N]}) = \operatorname{adj}(\mathcal{U}(xI_{N+1} - D)\mathcal{W}) = \mathcal{U}\operatorname{adj}(xI_{N+1} - D)\mathcal{W}$. \Box

Proposition 8.6. The second kind characteristic polynomials are the second kind polynomials of the characteristic polynomial; i.e.,

$$P_{N+1}^{(b,a)}(z) = \int \frac{P_{N+1}(z) - P_{N+1}(x)}{z - x} d\psi_{b,a}^{[N]}(x)$$

= $\alpha_{N+1} \int \frac{\det(A_{N+1}(z)) - \det(A_{N+1}(x))}{z - x} d\psi_{b,a}^{[N]}(x)$
= $\beta_{N+1} \int \frac{\det(B_{N+1}(z)) - \det(B_{N+1}(x))}{z - x} d\psi_{b,a}^{[N]}(x).$

Proof. We have

$$\int \frac{P_{N+1}(z) - P_{N+1}(x)}{z - x} \,\mathrm{d}\,\psi_{b,a}^{[N]}(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{N+1} \rho_{k,b}^{[N]} \mu_{k,a}^{[N]} \int \delta\left(x - \lambda_k^{[N]}\right) \frac{P_{N+1}(z) - P_{N+1}(x)}{z - x},$$

but

$$\int \delta(x - \lambda_k^{[N]}) \frac{P_{N+1}(z) - P_{N+1}(x)}{z - x} = \frac{P_{N+1}(z) - P_{N+1}(\lambda_k^{[N]})}{z - \lambda_k^{[N]}} = \frac{P_{N+1}(z)}{z - \lambda_k^{[N]}} = \pi_k^{[N]}(z),$$

and using Proposition 8.5 we obtain the first result. For the second we use Theorem 2.7. $\hfill\square$

Remark 8.7. The second kind characteristic polynomial matrix is

$$P_{N+1}^{(1)} := \xi^{-1} E_{[q,N+1]} \operatorname{adj}(x I_{N+1} - T^{[N]}) E_{[p,N+1]}^{\top} \nu^{-\top}$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{N+1} \pi_k^{[N]}(x) \begin{bmatrix} \rho_{k,1}^{[N]} \\ \vdots \\ \rho_{k,q}^{[N]} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mu_{k,1}^{[N]} \cdots \mu_{k,p}^{[N]} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \int \frac{P_{N+1}(z) - P_{N+1}(x)}{z - x} \operatorname{d} \Psi^{[N]}(x),$$

is a $q \times p$ matrix of polynomials whose entries are the polynomials of the second kind: $(P_{N+1}^{(1)})_{b,a} = P_{N+1}^{(b,a)}$.

Proposition 8.8. If T has a PBF and (22) is satisfied then deg $P_{N+1}^{(b,a)} = N$.

Proof. The choice (22) ensures that the entries of the vectors e_a^{ν} and e_b^{ξ} are positive. The PBF of T also ensures that all the Christoffel numbers are positive. Then, the definition of the second kind polynomials through the adjugate matrix leads to the degree N of these polynomials. \Box

The moments of the pq discrete measures $d\psi_{b,a}^{[N]}$ are linked to the components of the powers of $T^{[N]}$:

Proposition 8.9 (Discrete moments). For the discrete moments we have

$$\int x^{n} d\psi_{b,a}^{[N]}(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{N+1} \rho_{k,b}^{[N]} \mu_{k,a}^{[N]} (\lambda_{k}^{[N]})^{n}$$
$$= (e_{b}^{\xi})^{\top} (T^{[N]})^{n} e_{a}^{\nu}, \qquad a \in \{1, \dots, p\}, \qquad b \in \{1, \dots, q\}.$$

Proof. We have that $(e_b^{\xi})^{\top} (T^{[N]})^n e_a^{\nu} = (e_b^{\xi})^{\top} \mathcal{U} D^n \mathcal{W} e_a^{\nu}$ so that

$$(e_b^{\xi})^{\top} (T^{[N]})^n e_a^{\nu} = \left[\rho_{1,b}^{[N]} \cdots \rho_{N+1,b}^{[N]} \right] D^n \begin{bmatrix} \mu_{1,a}^{[N]} \\ \vdots \\ \mu_{N+1,a}^{[N]} \end{bmatrix},$$

and the result follows. $\hfill \square$

Remark 8.10. In matrix form we can write

$$\int x^n \,\mathrm{d}\,\Psi^{[N]}(x) = \xi^{-1} E_{[q,N+1]} (T^{[N]})^n E_{[p,N+1]}^\top \nu^{-\top}.$$

Definition 8.11 (*Resolvent*). The resolvent matrix $R^{[N]}(z)$ of the leading principal submatrix $T^{[N]}$ is

$$R^{[N]}(z) := \left(zI_{N+1} - T^{[N]}\right)^{-1} = \frac{\operatorname{adj}\left(zI_{N+1} - T^{[N]}\right)}{\operatorname{det}(zI_{N+1} - T^{[N]})}.$$

Lemma 8.12. We have

$$R^{[N]}(z) = \mathcal{U}(zI_{N+1} - D)^{-1}\mathcal{W}.$$
(23)

Proof. It follows immediately from the spectral decomposition of the matrix $T^{[N]}$.

Definition 8.13 (Weyl's functions). The Weyl functions are

$$S_{b,a}^{[N]} := (e_b^{\xi})^\top R^{[N]} e_a^{\nu}, \qquad a \in \{1, \dots, p\}, \qquad b \in \{1, \dots, q\}.$$

Proposition 8.14. The Weyl functions can be expressed as follows

$$S_{b,a}^{[N]}(z) = \frac{P_{N+1}^{(b,a)}(z)}{P_{N+1}(z)}$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{N+1} \frac{\rho_{k,b}^{[N]} \mu_{k,a}^{[N]}}{z - \lambda_k^{[N]}} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}\,\psi_{b,a}^{[N]}(x)}{z - x}, \qquad a \in \{1, \dots, p\}, \qquad b \in \{1, \dots, q\}.$$

Proof. The first equalities follow from adjugate expressions. The second expressions can be deduced from (23). Indeed, recalling Lemma 8.2 we get that the Weyl functions are

$$S_{b,a}^{[N]}(z) = \left[\rho_{1,b}^{[N]} \cdots \rho_{N+1,b}^{[N]}\right] (zI_{N+1} - D)^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} \mu_{1,a}^{[N]} \\ \vdots \\ \mu_{N+1,a}^{[N]} \end{bmatrix} = \sum_{k=1}^{N+1} \frac{\rho_{k,b}^{[N]} \mu_{k,a}^{[N]}}{z - \lambda_k^{[N]}}. \quad \Box$$

Remark 8.15. For the $q \times p$ matrix of Weyl functions $S^{[N]} = \begin{bmatrix} S_{1,1}^{[N]} \cdots S_{1,p}^{[N]} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ S_{q,1}^{[N]} \cdots S_{q,p}^{[N]} \end{bmatrix} :=$

 $\xi^{-1} E_{[q,N+1]} R_z^{[N]} E_{[p,N+1]}^{\top} \nu^{-1}$, we can write

$$S^{[N]}(z) = \frac{P_{N+1}^{(1)}(z)}{P_{N+1}(z)} = \sum_{k=1}^{N+1} \frac{1}{z - \lambda_k^{[N]}} \begin{bmatrix} \rho_{k,1}^{[N]} \\ \vdots \\ \rho_{k,q}^{[N]} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mu_{k,1}^{[N]} \cdots \mu_{k,p}^{[N]} \end{bmatrix} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}\,\Psi^{[N]}(x)}{z - x}.$$

- -----

Proposition 8.16. If T has a PBF and (22) is satisfied then $P_{N+1}^{(b,a)}$ is interlaced by P_{N+1} .

Proof. Notice that if T has a PBF all the singularities of the Weyl functions are simple poles with positive residues. Consequently, each of the second kind polynomials $P_{N+1}^{(b,a)}$ is interlaced by the characteristic polynomial P_{N+1} . \Box

We now connect these constructions with the polynomials used in discussion of the Hermite–Padé problem in Proposition 1.29. Let us remind that $\{e_1^{[N+1]}, \ldots, e_{N+1}^{[N+1]}\}$ the canonical basis of \mathbb{R}^{N+1} .

Proposition 8.17 (Vectorial polynomials of the second type). For $n \in \{1, ..., N + 1\}$ we find

$$\int \frac{\mathrm{d}\Psi^{[N]}(x)}{z-x} \begin{bmatrix} A_{n-1}^{(1)}(x) \\ \vdots \\ A_{n-1}^{(p)}(x) \end{bmatrix} = \xi^{-1} E_{[q,N+1]} R^{[N]}(z) e_n^{[N+1]},$$

A. Branquinho et al. / Advances in Mathematics 434 (2023) 109313

$$\int \left[B_{n-1}^{(1)}(x) \cdots B_{n-1}^{(q)}(x) \right] \frac{\mathrm{d} \Psi^{[N]}(x)}{z-x} = e_n^{[N+1]^\top} R^{[N]}(z) E_{[p,N+1]}^\top \nu^{-\top},$$

and entrywise

$$\sum_{a=1}^{p} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}\,\psi_{b,a}^{[N]}(x)}{z-x} A_{n-1}^{(a)}(x) = \left(e_{b}^{\xi}\right)^{\top} R^{[N]}(z) e_{n}^{[N+1]},$$
$$\sum_{b=1}^{q} \int B_{n-1}^{(b)}(x) \frac{\mathrm{d}\,\psi_{b,a}^{[N]}(x)}{z-x} = e_{n}^{[N+1]}^{\top} R^{[N]}(z) e_{a}^{\nu}.$$

Proof. From (16) and (20) we get

$$\int \frac{\mathrm{d}\,\Psi^{[N]}(x)}{z-x} \begin{bmatrix} A_{n-1}^{(1)}(x)\\ \vdots\\ A_{n-1}^{(p)}(x) \end{bmatrix} = \sum_{k=1}^{N+1} \begin{bmatrix} \rho_{k,1}\\ \vdots\\ \rho_{k,q} \end{bmatrix} \frac{w_{k,n}^{\langle N \rangle}}{z-\lambda_k^{[N]}}$$

and (18) implies

$$\int \frac{\mathrm{d} \Psi^{[N]}(x)}{z - x} \begin{bmatrix} A_{n-1}^{(1)}(x) \\ \vdots \\ A_{n-1}^{(p)}(x) \end{bmatrix} = \xi^{-1} \sum_{k=1}^{N+1} \begin{bmatrix} u_{k,1}^{\langle N \rangle} \\ \vdots \\ u_{k,q}^{\langle N \rangle} \end{bmatrix} \frac{w_{k,n}^{\langle N \rangle}}{z - \lambda_k^{[N]}}$$
$$= \xi^{-1} E_{[q,N+1]} \sum_{k=1}^{N+1} \begin{bmatrix} u_{k,1}^{\langle N \rangle} \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ u_{k,N+1}^{\langle N \rangle} \end{bmatrix} \frac{1}{z - \lambda_k^{[N]}} \begin{bmatrix} w_{k,1}^{\langle N \rangle} \cdots w_{k,N+1}^{\langle N \rangle} \end{bmatrix} e_n^{[N+1]},$$

and the result follows. Now, proceeding similarly and using (17) and (18) we obtain the second relation. \Box

9. Spectral Favard theorem

As the submatrices $T^{[N]}$ are oscillatory, we know that $P_{N+1}(x)$ strictly interlaces $P_N(x)$ so that the positive sequence $\{\lambda_1^{[N]}\}_{N=1}^{\infty}$ is a strictly increasing sequence and $\{\lambda_{N+1}^{[N]}\}_{N=1}^{\infty}$ is a strictly decreasing sequence. As well, for bounded operators, $||T||_{\infty} < \infty$, we have $||T^{[N]}||_{\infty} < ||T||_{\infty} < \infty$. Therefore, there exists the limits $\zeta := \lim_{N\to\infty} \lambda_{N+1}^{[N]} \ge 0$ and $\eta := \lim_{N\to\infty} \lambda_1^{[N]} \le ||T||_{\infty}$. Following [24,37] we call $\Delta := [\zeta, \eta] \subseteq [0, ||T||_{\infty}]$ the true interval of orthogonality, that is the smallest interval containing all zeros of the characteristic polynomials P_n , i.e. the eigenvalues of the leading principal submatrices of T.

Theorem 9.1 (Favard spectral representation). Let us assume that

- i) The banded matrix T is bounded and there exist s ≥ 0 such that T + sI has a PBF.
 ii) The sequences {A_n⁽¹⁾,...,A_n^(p)}_{n=0}[∞], {B_n⁽¹⁾,...,B_n^(q)}_{n=0}[∞] of recursion polynomials are determined by the initial condition matrices ν and ξ, respectively, such that ν^{-T} = $\Lambda \mathcal{A}, \xi^{-1} = \mathcal{B} \Upsilon, \text{ and } \mathcal{A} \in \mathbb{R}^{p \times p} \text{ is a nonnegative upper unitriangular matrices and}$ $\mathcal{B} \in \mathbb{R}^{q \times q}$ is a nonnegative lower unitriangular matrix.

Then, there exists pq non decreasing positive functions $\psi_{b,a}$, $a \in \{1, \ldots, p\}$ and $b \in$ $\{1, \ldots, q\}$ and corresponding positive Lebesgue-Stieltjes measures $d\psi_{b,a}$ with compact support Δ such that the following biorthogonality holds

$$\sum_{a=1}^{p} \sum_{b=1}^{q} \int_{\Delta} B_{l}^{(b)}(x) \,\mathrm{d}\,\psi_{b,a}(x) A_{k}^{(a)}(x) = \delta_{k,l}, \qquad k, l \in \mathbb{N}_{0}.$$

Proof. The shift in the matrix $T \to T + sI$ only shifts by s the eigenvalues of the truncations $T^{[N]}$, so that they are positive, and the dependent variable of the recursion polynomials, but do not alter the interlacing properties of the polynomials and the positivity of the corresponding Christoffel numbers. From Theorem 7.11 we know that the sequences $\{\psi_{a,b}^{[N]}\}_{N=0}^{\infty}$, $a \in \{1, \dots, p\}$, $b \in \{1, \dots, q\}$ given in Definition 6.1 are positive. Moreover, Proposition 6.2 implies that they are uniformly bounded and nondecreasing. Consequently, following Helly's results, see [24, §II] there exist subsequences that converge when $N \to \infty$ to positive nondecreasing functions $\psi_{b,a}$ with support on Δ and that the discrete biorthogonal relations lead to the stated biorthogonal properties.

Corollary 9.2 (Mixed multiple orthogonal relations). In the conditions of Theorem 9.1, the mixed multiple orthogonal relations are fulfilled

$$\sum_{a=1}^{p} \int_{\Delta} x^{n} \,\mathrm{d}\,\psi_{b,a}(x) A_{m}^{(a)}(x) = 0, \qquad n \in \{0, \dots, \deg B_{m-1}^{(b)}\}, \qquad b \in \{1, \dots, q\},$$
$$\sum_{b=1}^{q} \int_{\Delta} B_{m}^{(b)}(x) \,\mathrm{d}\,\psi_{b,a}(x) x^{n} = 0, \qquad n \in \{0, \dots, \deg A_{m-1}^{(a)}\}, \qquad a \in \{1, \dots, p\}.$$

Definition 9.3. Let us consider the semi-infinite matrix



and the infinite vectors

$$u_a^{\nu} = E_{[p]}^{\top} \nu^{-\top} e_a^{[p]} \qquad u_b^{\xi} = \left(e_b^{[q]}\right)^{\top} \xi^{-1} E_{[q]}$$

Proposition 9.4 (Spectral representation of moments and Stieltjes–Markov functions). In the conditions of Theorem 9.1 and in terms of the spectral functions $\psi_{b,a}$, $a \in \{1, \ldots, p\}$, $b \in \{1, \ldots, q\}$ we find the following relations between entries of powers or the resolvent of the banded matrix and moments or the Cauchy transform of the measures, respectively:

$$(u_b^{\xi})^{\top} T^n u_a^{\nu} = \int_{\Delta} x^n \, \mathrm{d} \, \psi_{b,a}(x), \qquad (u_b^{\xi})^{\top} (zI - T)^{-1} u_a^{\nu} = \int_{\Delta} \frac{\mathrm{d} \, \psi_{b,a}(x)}{z - x} -: \hat{\psi}_{b,a}(z).$$

Proof. Propositions 8.9 and 8.14 and Helly's second theorem lead to the spectral representation for the moments and Stieltjes–Markov functions $\hat{\psi}_{b,a}(z)$ of T. \Box

Remark 9.5. In terms of
$$\Psi = \begin{bmatrix} \psi_{1,1} \cdots \psi_{1,p} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ \psi_{q,1} \cdots \psi_{q,p} \end{bmatrix}$$
 we have

$$\xi^{-1} E_{[q]} T^n E_{[p]}^\top \nu^{-\top} = \int_{\Delta} x^n \, \mathrm{d}\, \Psi(x), \qquad \xi^{-1} E_{[q]} (zI - T)^{-1} E_{[p]}^\top \nu^{-\top} = \int_{\Delta} \frac{\mathrm{d}\, \Psi(x)}{z - x}.$$

Proposition 9.6 (Normal convergence of Weyl functions). Given the conditions of Theorem 9.1, the Weyl functions in Proposition 8.14 converge uniformly in compact subsets of $\overline{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \Delta$ to the Stieltjes–Markov functions, i.e.,

$$S_{b,a}^{[N]}(z) = \frac{P_{N+1}^{(b,a)}(z)}{P_{N+1}(z)} \xrightarrow[N \to \infty]{} \hat{\psi}_{b,a}(z), \qquad a \in \{1, \dots, p\}, \qquad b \in \{1, \dots, q\}.$$

Proof. Notice the uniform boundedness in N in compact subsets of $\overline{\mathbb{C}} \setminus \Delta$ of the Weyl functions $S_{b,a}^{[N]}$ for each pair a, b. Then, Vitali convergence theorem see [45, Theorem 6.2.8] leads to the result. \Box

Remark 9.7. Despite the positivity of Christoffel numbers described in Theorem 7.11 we only have the bound proved in Proposition 6.2. Therefore, we know that the functions $\psi_{b,a}^{[N]}$ given in Definition 6.1 that are right continuous, of bounded variation, increasing and positive are also uniformly bounded. Therefore, Helly's theorem can be applied to the large N limit.

However, this is not applicable to each family of Christoffel numbers separately. That is,

$$\begin{split} \varphi_b^{[N]} &:= \begin{cases} 0, & x < \lambda_{N+1}^{[N]}, \\ \rho_{1,b}^{[N]} + \dots + \rho_{k,b}^{[N]}, & \lambda_{k+1}^{[N]} \leqslant x < \lambda_k^{[N]}, \\ \rho_{1,b}^{[N]} + \dots + \rho_{N+1,b}^{[N]}, & x \geqslant \lambda_1^{[N]}, \end{cases} \\ \tilde{\varphi}_a^{[N]} &:= \begin{cases} 0, & x < \lambda_{N+1}^{[N]}, \\ \mu_{1,a}^{[N]} + \dots + \mu_{k,a}^{[N]}, & \lambda_{k+1}^{[N]} \leqslant x < \lambda_k^{[N]}, \\ \mu_{1,a}^{[N]} + \dots + \mu_{N+1,a}^{[N]}, & x \geqslant \lambda_1^{[N]}, \end{cases} \end{split}$$

are right continuous, of bounded variation, increasing and positive. But, in principle, they might be not bounded and therefore Helly's result may not be applicable.

Thus, to get measures from these functions we need to ensure the existence of bounds as follows $\rho_{1,b}^{[N]} + \cdots + \rho_{N+1,b}^{[N]} \leq R_b$ and $\mu_{1,a}^{[N]} + \cdots + \mu_{N+1,a}^{[N]} \leq M_a$. For such situation, the large limit will lead to the existence of spectral measures $d\varphi_a$, $a \in 1, \ldots, p$ and $d\tilde{\varphi}_b$, $b \in \{1, \ldots, q\}$. If these measures are absolutely continuous w.r.t. the measure $d\mu$, with Radon–Nikodym derivatives the weights w_a and \tilde{w}_b , respectively, we could write $d\varphi_a = w_a d\mu$ and $d\tilde{\varphi}_b = \tilde{w}_b d\mu$. A natural conjecture, that we have not yet proven, is that in this situation $d\psi_{b,a} = w_a \tilde{w}_b d\mu$. This rank one simplification is assumed in a large number of papers dealing with mixed multiple orthogonality.

10. Mixed multiple Gaussian quadrature and degrees of precision

Gaussian quadrature formulas are an important tool in the theory of orthogonal polynomials and its applications to approximation theory, see for example [24,37]. Its extension to non-mixed multiple orthogonal polynomials was discussed in [17,31,25,20], degrees of precision were presented in [20]. Now, we give its extension to the mixed multiple orthogonal situation. Notice that for p = q we are dealing with standard matrix orthogonal polynomials and such quadrature formulas have been discussed for this situation, see the excellent review [28] and references therein cited.

Let us assume that T has a PBF, and that the conditions of Theorem 9.1 hold, and introduce:

Definition 10.1. The degrees of precision or orders $d_{b,a}(N)$, $a \in \{1, \ldots, p\}$, $b \in \{1, \ldots, q\}$, are the largest natural numbers such that

$$(u_b^{\xi})^{\top} T^n u_a^{\nu} = (e_b^{\xi})^{\top} (T^{[N]})^n e_a^{\nu}, \quad 0 \le n \le d_{b,a}(N), \quad a \in \{1, \dots, p\}, \quad b \in \{1, \dots, q\}.$$

Proposition 10.2. In terms of the recursion polynomial degrees, see Proposition 2.3, the degrees of precision are

$$d_{b,a}(N) = \deg A_N^{(a)} + \deg B_N^{(b)} + 1 = \left\lceil \frac{N+2-a}{p} \right\rceil + \left\lceil \frac{N+2-b}{q} \right\rceil - 1,$$

$$a \in \{1, \dots, p\}, \qquad b \in \{1, \dots, q\}.$$

Proof. The vectors e_b^{ξ} , u_b^{ξ} , e_a^{ν} , and u_a^{ν} are nonnegative, with the first q or p entries being positive numbers, and the remaining entries being zero, respectively. In the computation of $(u_b^{\xi})^{\top} T^n u_a^{\nu}$, our focus is on determining whether $(T^n)_{j,i}$, where $j \in \{0, \ldots, b-1\}$ and $i \in \{0, \ldots, a-1\}$, involves nonzero factors $T_{k,l}$ with k > N or l > N.

We observe that $(T^n)_{i,i}$ can be expressed as sums of products of the form

$$T_{j,i_1}T_{i_1,i_2}\cdots T_{i_{n-2},i_{n-1}}T_{i_{n-1},i_n}$$

where each factor is a positive entry from the banded matrix T. Our objective is to analyze those products that might lead to the appearance of undesired nonzero factors $T_{k,l}$ with k > N or l > N at an earlier stage.

When considering a specific row k, the entry $T_{k,k+q}$ is the last nonzero entry as we move to the right. Similarly, $T_{k,k-p}$ (for $k \ge p$) is the last positive entry as we move to the left. These "optimal ascending jumps" of q units provide the fastest upward movement in a column, while the "optimal descending jumps" of p units offer the quickest downward movement.

Examining products of s + 1 factors involving optimal ascending jumps, designed to go from b - 1 to N + 1 as rapidly as possible, we have:

$$T_{j,j+q}T_{j+q,j+2q}T_{j+2q,j+3q}\cdots T_{j+(s-1)q,j+sq}T_{j+sq,N+1}$$

Here, s is a nonnegative integer ensuring that $j + (s + 1)q \ge N + 1$ for the first time, which can be expressed as:

$$s \ge \frac{N+1-j}{q} - 1.$$

Hence, $s = \left\lceil \frac{N+1-j}{q} \right\rceil - 1.$

Moving downward to the i position using optimal descending jumps involves a product of r factors:

$$T_{N+1,N+1-p}T_{N+1-p,N+1-2p}T_{N+1-2p,N+1-3p}\cdots T_{N+1-(r-1)p,i}$$

The condition $N + 1 - rp \le i$ dictates $r = \left\lceil \frac{N + 1 - i}{p} \right\rceil$.

Combining these insights, the product:

$$T_{j,j+q}T_{j+q,j+2q}T_{j+2q,j+3q}\cdots T_{j+(s-1)q,j+sq}T_{j+sq,N+1}$$

$$\times T_{N+1,N+1-p}T_{N+1-p,N+1-2p}\cdots T_{N+1-(r-2)p,N+1-(r-1)p}T_{N+1-(r-1)p,i}$$

illustrates the quickest path to reach an element $T_{k,l}$ where k > N or l > N. This product involves r + s + 1 factors.

Thus, to avoid such scenarios, we must consider, for the entry $(T^n)_{j,i}$, a power of at most n < r + s + 1, i.e.,

$$n = r + s = \left\lceil \frac{N+1-j}{q} \right\rceil - 1 + \left\lceil \frac{N+1-i}{p} \right\rceil.$$

Finally, we will determine the smallest value among these powers for $j \in \{0, ..., b-1\}$ and $i \in \{0, ..., a-1\}$. This will give us the expression for the *n*-th power as follows:

$$n = \left\lceil \frac{N+2-b}{q} \right\rceil + \left\lceil \frac{N+2-a}{p} \right\rceil - 1,$$

which leads us to the desired result. \Box

Theorem 10.3 (Mixed multiple Gaussian quadrature formulas). The following Gauss quadrature formulas hold

$$\int_{\Delta} x^{n} d\psi_{b,a}(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{N+1} \rho_{k,b}^{[N]} \mu_{k,a}^{[N]} (\lambda_{k}^{[N]})^{n},$$

$$0 \leq n \leq d_{b,a}(N), \qquad a \in \{1, \dots, p\}, \qquad b \in \{1, \dots, q\}.$$
(24)

Here the degrees of precision $d_{b,a}$ are optimal (for any power largest than n a positive remainder appears, an exactness is lost).

Proof. On the one hand, from Proposition 9.4 we have that $(e_b^{\xi})^{\top} T^n e_a^{\nu} = \int_{\Delta} x^n \, \mathrm{d} \, \psi_{b,a}(x)$. On the other hand, from Proposition 8.9, we know that $(e_b^{\xi})^{\top} (T^{[N]})^n e_a^{\nu} = \sum_{k=1}^{N+1} \rho_{k,b}^{[N]} \mu_{k,a}^{[N]} (\lambda_k^{[N]})^n$. Hence, as we have

$$(e_b^{\xi})^{\top} T^n e_a^{\nu} = (e_b^{\xi})^{\top} (T^{[N]})^n e_a^{\nu}, \quad 0 \le n \le d_{b,a}(N), \quad a \in \{1, \dots, p\}, \quad b \in \{1, \dots, q\},$$

we get (24). Notice that for $n > d_{b,a}(N)$ a positive remainder will appear and exactness will be lost. Indeed, observe that T^n is oscillatory and that $e_a^{\nu} = \Lambda \mathcal{A} e_a$ and $e_b^{\xi} = \Upsilon \mathcal{B} e_a$ are positive vectors, so all the objects involved imply positive contributions. \Box

Remark 10.4. In terms of the number of nodes or interpolation points $\mathcal{N} = N + 1$, the zeros of the characteristic polynomial P_{N+1} or, equivalently the eigenvalues of $T^{[N]}$, we have that in the non multiple case for which a = b = p = q = 1 the degree of precision is $2\mathcal{N} - 1$ and we recover the well known Gauss quadrature formula, see for example [24,37]. For the non mixed multiple situation we recover the result we got and discussed in [20, Theorem 7], that is, degrees of precision $d_a = \mathcal{N} - 1 + \deg A_{\mathcal{N}-1}^{(a)}$.

Remark 10.5. Notice that for the standard orthogonality, i.e. p = q = 1, the nodes are the zeros of an orthogonal polynomial of certain degree. This also happens for the non mixed multiple situation as the characteristic polynomials and one of the families of recursion polynomials, say B_n , coincide. However, for mixed multiple orthogonality the nodes are the zeros of the characteristic polynomial of the corresponding truncation, which is not an orthogonal polynomial. Consequently, the nodes are not, in general, the zeros of the left or right recursion polynomials, that are the ones satisfying the mixed multiple orthogonal relations.

Remark 10.6. A quadrature is said to be interpolatory if there is a polynomial that interpolates the function for which a weighted integral is supposed to be approximated by a quadrature. In the non mixing multiple orthogonal quadrature the interpolation polynomial is $P_N = B_N$ for all the measures $d\psi_a$, $a \in \{1, \ldots, p\}$. Now, for the mixed multiple orthogonality for each $b \in \{1, \ldots, q\}$, we use the interpolation polynomials $B_N^{(b)}$ for the measures $d\psi_{b,a}$, $a \in \{1, \ldots, p\}$, so that in order to have an interpolatory quadrature we need the degrees of precision to be at least deg $B_N^{(b)} - 1$, which in fact is the case.

Remark 10.7. For the case p = q, i.e. when we are dealing with the usual matrix orthogonality, as we are working with $p \times p$ blocks we take $\mathcal{N} = Mp$, with $M \in \mathbb{N}$, the degree of precision given in Proposition 10.2 must be the smaller degree of precision in $p \times p$ block, i.e.

$$d(N) = 2 \deg B_N^{(p)} + 1 = 2 \left\lceil \frac{\mathcal{N} + 1 - p}{p} \right\rceil - 1 = 2 \left\lceil \frac{(M-1)p + 1}{p} \right\rceil - 1$$
$$= 2(M-1) + 2 - 1 = 2M - 1.$$

This is the optimal degree of precision according to Durán and Polo [29].

11. Conclusions and outlook

In this paper, we introduce an extension of the spectral Favard theorem, which establishes the presence of positive measures for bounded Jacobi matrices. This extension is formulated to encompass situations featuring a band structure with p subdiagonals and q superdiagonals.

The foundation for this extension arose from our observation that shifting a Jacobi matrix yields an oscillatory matrix, which can be factorized into a positive bidiagonal configuration. Our pivotal discovery lies in the fact that this positive bidiagonal factorization, indicative of the matrix's oscillatory nature, allows for a spectral interpretation. Consequently, we effectively validate the existence of mixed multiple orthogonal polynomials tailored to bounded banded matrices that adhere to this specific pattern.

An additional outcome of our work is the derivation of a multiple Gauss quadrature approach, incorporating explicit degrees of precision, for scenarios involving mixed multiple orthogonality.

Looking ahead, our first objective is to extend the Karlin–MacGregor spectral interpretation of birth and death Markov chains [41] to encompass multiple potential transitions, spanning up to p backwards and q forwards. We have already accomplished this extension within the Hessenberg framework, as demonstrated in [20]. In that context, either q = 1 and p can be arbitrary or p = 1 and q can be arbitrary.

An intriguing avenue for exploration involves the functional analysis interpretation of our findings. In the tridiagonal Jacobi scenario, the Favard spectral theorem serves as a crucial element in establishing the spectral theorem for bounded self-adjoint operators A [46, Sections 5.2 and 5.3]. Central to this proof is the role of cyclic vectors φ , which facilitate the construction of $\psi_n = A^n \varphi$ and vectors φ_n using the Gram–Schmidt method. In this basis, A takes on the form of a Jacobi matrix, thus allowing the classical spectral Favard theorem to be applied. As a result, the spectral theorem for A becomes readily demonstrable [46, Theorem 5.3.1]. Moreover, in [43, Section 2] (where the Jacobi matrix is denoted as \mathscr{L} and the cyclic vector for \mathscr{L} is e_0), it is shown that if Q_n represents the corresponding orthonormal polynomials, then $e_n = Q_n(\mathscr{L})e_0$, thereby implying $\delta_{k,l} =$ $(e_k, e_l) = (Q_k(\mathscr{L})e_0, Q_l(\mathscr{L})e_0) = \int Q_k(x)Q_l(x) d\mu$.

The question that arises is whether a similar construction exists for the banded operators T discussed in this paper. Preliminary observations suggest that, rather than a cyclic vector, we might expect cyclic subspaces, which could potentially encompass both left and right cyclic subspaces. Understanding the construction delineated in [43] and the formula $e_n = Q_n(\mathscr{L})e_0$ within the framework of banded scenarios is of paramount importance. We hold the belief that the spectral outcomes presented in Proposition 9.4 and Remark 9.5 hold significance within this particular context.

Acknowledgments

The authors extend their gratitude to the anonymous reviewer whose insightful comments and suggestions have significantly enhanced the paper's presentation.

AB acknowledges Centro de Matemática da Universidade de Coimbra UIDB/00324/2020, funded by the Portuguese Government through FCT/MEC and cofunded by the European Regional Development Fund through the Partnership Agreement PT2020.

AF acknowledges CIDMA Center for Research and Development in Mathematics and Applications (University of Aveiro) and the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT) within project UIDB/04106/2020 and UIDP/04106/2020.

MM acknowledges Spanish Agencia Estatal de Investigación research projects [PGC2018-096504-B-C33], Ortogonalidad y Aproximación: Teoría y Aplicaciones en Física Matemática and [PID2021-122154NB-I00], Ortogonalidad y Aproximación con Aplicaciones en Machine Learning y Teoría de la Probabilidad.

References

- M. Adler, P. van Moerbeke, P. Vanhaecke, Moment matrices and multi-component KP, with applications to random matrix theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 286 (2009) 1–38.
- [2] C. Álvarez-Fernández, U. Fidalgo, M. Mañas, Multiple orthogonal polynomials of mixed type: Gauss-Borel factorization and the multi-component 2D Toda hierarchy, Adv. Math. 227 (2011) 1451–1525.
- [3] R. Apéry, Irrationalité de $\zeta(2)$ et $\zeta(3)$, Astérisque 61 (1979) 11–13.
- [4] A. Aptekarev, S. Denisov, M. Yattselev, Self-adjoint Jacobi matrices on trees and multiple orthogonal polynomials, Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 373 (2) (2020) 875–917.
- [5] A. Aptekarev, S. Denisov, M. Yattselev, Jacobi matrices on trees generated by Angelesco systems: asymptotics of coefficients and essential spectrum, J. Spectr. Theory 11 (4) (2021) 1511–1597.
- [6] A. Aptekarev, S. Denisov, M. Yattselev, Spectral theory of Jacobi matrices on trees whose coefficients are generated by multiple orthogonality, Adv. Math. 396 (2022) 108–114.
- [7] A. Aptekarev, V. Kaliaguine, G. López Lagomasino, I. Rocha, On the limit behavior of recurrence coefficients for multiple orthogonal polynomials, J. Approx. Theory 139 (1–2) (2006) 346–370.
- [8] A. Aptekarev, V. Kaliaguine, E. Saff, Higher-order three-term recurrences and asymptotics of multiple orthogonal polynomials, Constr. Approx. 30 (2) (2009) 175–223.
- [9] A. Aptekarev, V. Kaliaguine, J. Van Iseghem, The genetic sums' representation for the moments of a system of Stieltjes functions and its application, Constr. Approx. 16 (2000) 487–524.
- [10] G. Ariznabarreta, M. Mañas, A Jacobi type Christoffel–Darboux formula for multiple orthogonal polynomials of mixed type, Linear Algebra Appl. 468 (2015) 154–170.
- [11] K. Balland, T. Rivoal, Irrationalité d'une infinité de valeurs de la fonction zêta aux entiers impairs, Invent. Math. 146 (2001) 193–207.
- [12] D. Barrios-Rolanía, A. Branquinho, A. Foulquié-Moreno, Dynamics and interpretation of some integrable systems via multiple orthogonal polynomials, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 361 (2010) 358–370.
- [13] D. Barrios-Rolanía, A. Branquinho, A. Foulquié-Moreno, On the relation between the full Kostant-Toda lattice and multiple orthogonal polynomials, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 377 (2011) 228–238.
- [14] D. Barrios-Rolanía, A. Branquinho, A. Foulquié-Moreno, On the full Kostant–Toda system and the discrete Korteweg–de Vries equations, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 401 (2013) 811–820.
- [15] B. Beckermann, A. Osipov, Some spectral properties of infinite band matrices, Numer. Algorithms 34 (2003) 173–185.
- [16] P.M. Bleher, A.B.J. Kuijlaars, Random matrices with external source and multiple orthogonal polynomials, Int. Math. Res. Not. 2004 (3) (2004) 109–129.
- [17] C.F. Borges, On a class of Gauss-like quadrature rules, Numer. Math. 67 (1994) 271–288.
- [18] A. Branquinho, J.E. Fernández-Díaz, A. Foulquié-Moreno, M. Mañas, Hypergeometric multiple orthogonal polynomials and random walks, arXiv:2107.00770.
- [19] A. Branquinho, A. Foulquié-Moreno, M. Mañas, Multiple orthogonal polynomials: Pearson equations and Christoffel formulas, Anal. Math. Phys. 12 (2022) 6.
- [20] A. Branquinho, A. Foulquié-Moreno, M. Mañas, Oscillatory banded Hessenberg matrices, multiple orthogonal polynomials and Markov chains, Phys. Scr. 98 (2023) 105223, https://doi.org/10.1088/ 1402-4896/ace93d.
- [21] A. Branquinho, A. Foulquié-Moreno, M. Mañas, Bidiagonal factorization of tetradiagonal matrices and Darboux transformations, Anal. Math. Phys. 13 (2023) 42.
- [22] A. Branquinho, A. Foulquié-Moreno, M. Mañas, Positive bidiagonal factorization of tetradiagonal Hessenberg matrices, Linear Algebra Appl. 667 (2023) 132–160, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.laa.2023. 08.001.
- [23] A. Branquinho, J.E.F. Díaz, A. Foulquié-Moreno, M. Mañas, C. Álvarez-Fernández, Jacobi–Piñeiro Markov chains, Rev. R. Acad. Cienc. Exactas Fís. Nat., Ser. A Mat. (2023), in press.
- [24] T.S. Chihara, An Introduction to Orthogonal Polynomials, Gordon & Breach, New York, 1978, Reprinted by Dover, 2011.
- [25] J. Coussement, W. Van Assche, Gaussian quadrature for multiple orthogonal polynomials, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 178 (2005) 131–145.
- [26] E. Daems, A.B.J. Kuijlaars, Multiple orthogonal polynomials of mixed type and non-intersecting Brownian motions, J. Approx. Theory 146 (2007) 91–114.
- [27] D. Damanik, A. Pushnitski, B. Simon, The analytic theory of matrix orthogonal polynomials, Surv. Approx. Theory 4 (2008) 1–85.

- [28] A.J. Durán, F.A. Grünbaum, Matrix-valued polynomials and differential equations, in: M.E.H. Ismail (Ed.), Univariate Orthogonal Polynomials, Encyclopedia of Special Functions (The Askey– Bateman Project) Volume I, Cambridge University Press, 2020, pp. 307–333.
- [29] A.J. Durán, B. Polo, Gaussian quadrature formulae for matrix weights, Linear Algebra Appl. 355 (2002) 119–146.
- [30] S.M. Fallat, C.R. Johnson, Totally Nonnegative Matrices, Princeton Series in Applied Mathematics, Princeton University Press, Princeton, 2011.
- [31] U. Fidalgo Prieto, J. Illán, G. López-Lagomasino, Hermite–Padé approximation and simultaneous quadrature formulas, J. Approx. Theory 126 (2004) 171–197.
- [32] U. Fidalgo Prieto, A. López García, G. López Lagomasino, V.N. Sorokin, Mixed type multiple orthogonal polynomials for two Nikishin systems, Constr. Approx. 32 (2010) 255–306.
- [33] U. Fidalgo Prieto, S. Medina Peralta, J. Minguez, Mixed type multiple orthogonal polynomials: perfectness and interlacing properties of zeros, Linear Algebra Appl. 438 (2013) 1229–1239.
- [34] F.P. Gantmacher, Matrix Theory, volume two Chelsea Publishing Company, New York, 1974.
- [35] F.P. Gantmacher, M.G. Krein, Oscillation and Kernels and Small Vibrations of Mechanical Systems, revised second edition, AMS Chelsea Publishing, American Mathematical Society, Providence, Rhode Island, 2002.
- [36] R.A. Horn, C.R. Johnson, Matrix Analysis, second edition, corrected reprint, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2018.
- [37] M.E.H. Ismail, Classical and Quantum Orthogonal Polynomials in One Variable, Encyclopedia of Mathematics and Its Applications, vol. 98, Cambridge University Press, 2009.
- [38] V. Kalyagin, Hermite–Padé approximants and spectral analysis of nonsymmetric operators, Sb. Math. 82 (1995) 199–216.
- [39] V. Kaliaguine, The operator moment problem, vector continued fractions and an explicit form of the Favard theorem for vector orthogonal polynomials, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 65 (1995) 181–193.
- [40] V. Kaliaguine, On operators associated with Angelesco systems, East J. Approx. 2 (1995) 157–170.
- [41] S. Karlin, J. McGregor, Random walks, Ill. J. Math. 3 (1959) 66-81.
- [42] A. Martínez-Finkelshtein, W. Van Assche, What is a multiple orthogonal polynomial?, Not. Am. Math. Soc. 63 (9) (2016) 1029–1031.
- [43] E.M. Nikishin, Discrete Sturm-Liouville operators and some problems of function theory, J. Sov. Math. 35 (1986) 2679–2744.
- [44] E.M. Nikishin, V.N. Sorokin, Rational Approximations and Orthogonality, Translations of Mathematical Monographs, vol. 92, American Mathematical Society, Providence, 1991.
- [45] B. Simon, Basic Complex Analysis. A Comprehensive Course in Analysis, Part 2A, American Mathematical Society, Providence, Rhode Island, 2015.
- [46] B. Simon, Operator Theory. A Comprehensive Course in Analysis, Part 4, American Mathematical Society, Providence, Rhode Island, 2015.
- [47] A. Sinap, W. Van Assche, Orthogonal matrix polynomials and applications, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 66 (1996) 27–52.
- [48] V.N. Sorokin, Hermite–Padé approximants of polylogarithms, Izv. Vysš. Učebn. Zaved., Mat. 5 (1994) 49–59;
 - Russ. Math. (Izv. VUZ) 38 (5) (1994) 47–57, in Russian.
- [49] V.N. Sorokin, J. Van Iseghem, Algebraic aspects of matrix orthogonality for vector polynomials, J. Approx. Theory 90 (1997) 97–116.
- [50] V.N. Sorokin, J. Van Iseghem, Matrix continued fractions, J. Approx. Theory 96 (1999) 237–257.
- [51] V.N. Sorokin, J. Van Iseghem, Matrix Hermite–Padé problem and dynamical systems, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 122 (2000) 275–295.
- [52] V.V. Zudilin, One of the numbers $\zeta(5), \zeta(7), \zeta(9), \zeta(11)$ is irrational, Russ. Math. Surv. 56 (4) (2001) 774–776.